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;: 
I financial institutions." See littps:T~i~ww.welfstaraodealerservices.com~": Wells Fargo & 

iCompany has $1.9 trillion in assets and provides banking, insurance, investments, 

I mortgage, and consumer and eommercial financial serviees through more than 8,600 

locations, 13,000 ATMs, online (wellsfargo.com), and mobile devices. See 

https:~’~i~-«titi08.t~telist<~ruorns~ciia.comi’asset~ndC~~bou~;lcorporate’tivells-farlo-~, toda~p�~t: 

Wells Fargo & Company reports that, at the end of second quarter 2416, it ranked third in 

assets among U.S. banks and was the world’s most valuable bank by market 

I capitalization. Id Wells Fargo & Company states that it does business with 70 million 

customers and one in three U.S. households, and has approximately 268,000 team 

members in 36 countries and territories across its more than 90 businesses. Id 

	

2.7 	Wells C‘arl;o & Company reports that it is an industry leader and "41" as a 

I"Home loan originator to minority and low- to moderate-income homebuyers, and in 

I low- to moderate-incorne neighborhoods," based on 2015 HMDA data. Id. It further 

l advertises itself as "#1" as a"Home loan servicer," based on 1Q16 Inside Mnrtgage 

I FirtalrCe. Id. It further boasts it was ranked "#1" as "U.S. Bank Lender of the Year 

(2014-2015)" by Real F,state Capital Awards, and "#1" as °‘Asset-based Lender of the 

Year (2015)" by Real Ueals. ldl And it lists itself as "#1" as an "Affordable housing 

~ lender (2015)" by MBA Commercial~’Multifarnily Origination Rankings. Id. 

	

2.8 	Defendant Wells Fargo owns a variety of divisions, including Wells Fargo 

I Home Mortgage and Wells Fargo Dealer Services (self-proclaimed "one of the nation’s 

J leading auto lenders": =;see 
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1 
	

httt~s:~~«<c~~ii~:~%:e11s1ar~;odealerserviccs.con~IfAbnutW’FDSJk;.CornorateProfile’~lefault aso). 

2 
	

III. JURISllIC’I’ION AND VENUE 

3 
	

3.1 	This is an action for darnages. Jurisdiction and venue are appropriate in 

4 
	

this Court pursuant to RCW 4.12.010 and RCW 4,12.020. 

5 11 IV. BACKGROUND REGARDING WELLS FARGO’S COMMON POLICIES 
AND PRACTICES 

6 

FYells Fcrr,eo’s Urrfoir otitf Decentive Blcsiness Practices 
7 

	

4.1 	Wells Fargo’s entry upon a residential property usually begins once a 
8 

homeowner becomes delinquent or defaults on his or her mortgage. 
9 

	

4.2 	Upon a Washington borrower’s delinquency or default, pursuant to its 
10 

forrn deed of trust provi n in iis contracts with all borrowers, Wells Fargo will instruct 
11 

an agent to inspect the home to determine its occupancy status. 
12 

	

4.3 	Wells Fargio does not instruct its agents on rnaking determinations or 
13 

distinctions between "vacant" homes versus "abandoned" homes, and does not provide its 
14 

agents with clear standards for detertnining the occupancy status of the home. 
15 

	

4.4 	(Jnce the home is deemed "vacant" or "abandoned," Wells Fargo will 
16 

instruct its agent to forcibly enter the home and perform services, such as securing the 
17 

home by boarding up the doonvay or windows; turning off utilities to the home, and 
18 

placing lockboxes or padlocks on the doors to the home. 
19 

	

4.5 	Such common instructions also include that the agent should forcibly enter ’ 
20 

the home to perforrn destructive acts, including destroying and removing existing loek(s) ’ 
21 

on a home, darnaging doors or smashing windows if necessary for entry, and removing 
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1 
	personal property found in the home. 

	

2 
	

4.6 	These common actions result in damage to the borrower’s real and 

	

3 
	personal property, interference with the borrower’s full use and enjoyment of the home, 

	

4 
	conversion of personal property located within the home. 

	

5 
	

4.7 	Despite extensive use of such agents, Wells Fargo does not adequately ’ 

	

6 
	

train or supervise its agents, who frequently use personnel who have not been screened, ’ 

	

7 
	

had a criminal background check, nor liad a qualifications review performed. 

	

8 
	

4.8 	Frequently, Wells Fargo or its agents inaccurately determine the 

	

9 
	occupancy status of a home. 

	

10 
	

4.9 	If a home is deemed vacant or abandoned, Wells Fargo orders its agent to 

	

11 
	gain access the horne by ~ forcibly entering the home through locked doors or windows. 

	

12 
	

This includes by picking and breaking locks, and smashing in doors and windows. 

	

13 
	

4.10 Upon entry, Wells Fargo instructs its agents to rernove all personal 

14 property and belongings from the home, an act commonly known as "trashing out" the 

	

15 
	property. 

	

16 
	

4.11 After a borrower’s home has been trashed out, Wells Fargo does not 

	

17 
	require its agents to store, preserve, or otherwise track the items that were trashed out of 

18 the home. Wells Fargo and/or its agents have no policy or procedure for returning 

	

19 
	

"trashed out" personal property to borrowers. 

	

20 
	

4.12 Wells Fargo instructs its agents to place their own locks and lock boxes on 

21 the borrower’s home and post a notice upon the borrower’s home instructing the 
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1 
	

borrower to contact Wells Fargo for access to the home. 

	

2 
	

4.13 When Wells Fargo learns that a homeowner wants access to his or her 

3 I home, Wells Fargo does not: (a) immediately provide access to the homeowner; (b) 

	

4 
	

remove the locks that it had placed on the home; (c) restore the homeowner’s locks to the 

	

s 
	

home; or (d) return the locks to the homeowner. 

	

6 
	

4.14 When Wells Fargo learns that a homeowner wants personal property that 

	

7 
	

was removed from the home returned, WelIs Fargo does not return the personal property. 

	

a 
	

4.15 When Wells Fargo learns that a homeowner wants the damage to the home ’ 

	

9 
	

repaired, Wells Fargo does not repair the damage. 

	

tU 
	

4.16 On infot7nation and believe, Wells Fargo’s unfair and deceptive acts and 

	

11 
	

practices described above are widespread, occurring throughout Washington State. 

	

12 
	

The Was/tim-ton Srrnrer»re Court’s Derisioar Invalidatine the Deerl of Trrtst Provisions 
in Jordait v. Natioitstar Mortzaae, LLC, No. 92081-8 

13 

4.17 In 2012., a lawsuit entitled .lordan v: Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, was filed 
14 

in Washington State Superior Court in Chelan ~ounty under Cause No. 12-2-00385-2. 
15 

This lawsuit challenged tlte legality and enforceability of the form deed of trust entry 
16 

provisions relied upon by mortgage lenders and servicers to enter borrowers’ homes and 
17 

"secure" their properties upon default; abandonment, or vacancy. See Exhibit A.. 
19 

4.18 Following the grant of class certification in 2014, counsel for Nationstar 
19 

removed the Complaint to the "Pinited States District Court for the Eastern District of 
20 ’ 

Washington, where it was assigned to the Hon. Thomas O. Rice under Cause No. 2:14- 
21 

cv-00175-TOR. 
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4.19 ln 2015, the parties filed cross-motions for partial summary judgment, and 

2 on August 10, 2015, Judge Rice issued an Order Certifying Questions to Washington 

	

3 
	

Supreme Court on the following bases: 

	

4 
	

Put succinctly, this Court has been asked to deeide whether 
so-called Entry Provisions within the deeds of trust of 

	

5 
	

Plaintiff and other class members are enforceable under 
Washington law absent post-default consent of the 

	

e 
	

borrower or permission from a court. Nationstar contends 
the Provisions akin to a lirnited license or similar non- 

	

7 
	 possessory interest in land�merely grant the lender the 

ability to enter, rnaintain, and secure the encumbered 

	

a 	 property and that such conduet does not eonstitute 
possession in violation of Washington’s lien theory of 

	

9 
	 mortgages. Ms. Jordan, on the other hand, contends the 

Entry Provisions unlawfully deprive a bonower of her 

	

14 
	 exclusive right to possession prior to foreclosure and that 

the borrower cannot agree by eontract to relinquish sueh 

	

11 
	 right prior to default. Instead, Ms. Jordan asserts that the 

lender either must obtain post-default consent of the 

	

12 
	

borrower or a court-appointed receiver pursuant to RCW 
chapter 7.60. 

13 

Bccause of the complexity of the state law issues presented 

	

14 
	

in the parties’ cross-motions for partial summary judgment 
and their significant policy implications, this Court finds 

	

15 
	

that the Washington Supreme Court, which has not had 
occasion to settle these issues, "is better qualified to answer 

	

1s 
	 the certified questions in the first instance." ... Further, 

this Court finds the Washington Supreme Court’s answers 

	

17 
	 are "necessary ... in order to dispose of [this] proceeding." 

	

18 
	

Exhibit B at pp. 3-4 (internal citations omitted). 

	

19 
	

4.20 Judge Rice then certiFied, iliter alia, the following question of law to the 

	

20 
	

Washington Supreme Court: 

	

21 
	

(1) Under Wasliingtoti’s lien theory of mortgages and 
RCW 7.28.230(1), can a bon�ower and lender enter into 
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1 
	 a eontraetual agreement prior to default that allows the 

lender to enter, maintain, and secure the encurnbered 

	

2 
	 property prior to foreclosure? 

	

3 	Id. at p. 10. 

	

4 
	

4.21 On August 18, 2015, the Washington Supreme Court sent a letter 

5 accepting Judge Rice’s Order Certifying Questions under Supreme Court No. 92081-8, 

	

s 
	and set a briefing schedule for the parties. Exhibit C. 

	

7 
	

4.22 The parties timely submitted their briefs, and oral argument took place 

	

s 
	

before the Washington Supreine Court on January 19, 2016. 

	

9 
	

4.23 On July 7, 2016, the Washington Supreme Court issued its En Banc 

10 Opinion in .lordan v. Ncrtionslar Avfortgage, LLC, No. 92081-8, answering "the first 

	

11 
	certified question in the negative." Exhibit D at p. 6. The Court explained, "Our case 

	

12 
	

law is clear that Washington law prohibits a lender from taking possession of property 

	

13 
	

before foreclosure of the borrower’s home." Id. at p. S. The Court concluded that the 

	

14 
	

decd of trust entry provisions a11ow the lender to take possession of the borrower’s home 

	

15 
	

in advance of the conclusion of a foreclosure of the borrower’s home: 

	

16 
	

From any approach, we find that Nationstar’s conduct 
constituted possession. ... Nationstar’s vendor’s actions 

	

17 
	 constituted possession because its actions are representative 

of control. The vendor drilled out Jordan’s existing locks 

	

18 
	 and replaced the lock with its own. ...[A]lthough [Jordan] 

was able to obtain a key by calling, the process made 

	

19 
	

Nationstar the "middle man." She could no longer access 
her home without going through Nationstar. ... Nationstar 

	

20 
	 effectively ousted Jordan by changing her locks, exercising 

control over the property. ... Changing the locks is akin to 

	

21 
	 exercising control, which is the key element of possession. 

By changing the locks, Nationstar took possession of the 
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1 	 property. Since these actions are authorized by the entry 
provisions, the entry provisions allow the lender to take 

	

2 	 possession of the properiy. Because Washington law 
prohibits lenders from taking possession of the borrower’s 

	

3 	 property before foreclosure, the provisions are in conflict 
with state law. Therefore, we must answer the first 

	

a 	 certified question in the negative and find that the entry 
provisions are unenforceable. 

5 

Id, at pp. 12-14. 
s 

4.24 The Court concluded: "[Tlhe entry provisions are in direct conflict with 
7 

state law and are unenforceable." Id. at p. 20. 
8 

4.25 Based on Jorcfan, Wells Fargo has no legal right to engage in its common 
9 

practice of forcible entry into pre-foreclosure homes, damage to borrowers’ real and 
10 

person property, conversion of borrowers’ personal property and belongings located 
11 

within the home, and interference with borrowers’ full use and enjoyment of their 
12 

properties prior to the completion of a foreclosure. 
13 

V. 	REPRESENTATIVE PLAINTIFF RHODES 
14 

	

5.1 	Representative Plaintiff Rhodes is just one example of Wells Fargo’s 
15 

common pattern and practice of unlawfully entering upon borrowers’ properties in 

	

15 	 ‘ 

advance of any foreclosure proceedings, damaging borrowers’ real property, converting 
17 

borrowers’ personal property, and denying borrowers’ the full use and enjoyment of their 
18 

property prior to completion of a foreclosure. 
19 

	

5.2 	Representative Plaintiff Rhodes, at all times material hereto, owned a 
20 

single family home located at 4591 Sherman Road, Deer Park, Washington 99006 (the 
21 

"Rhodes Property"). 
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1 
	

5.3 	At all times relevant hereto, Wells Fargo was the beneficiary of a deed of 

2 trust secured by the Rhodes Property and recorded under Steven’s County Auditor 

	

3 
	

Number 2008 0001426 (the "Deed of Trust"), on February 13, 2008. - 

	

4 
	

5.4 	The Deed of Trust contains a provision which states that, if Ms. Rhodes 

	

5 
	abandoned the Rhodes Property, the lender (Wells Fargo) may do whatever is reasonable 

6 and appropriate to protect the lender’s interest in the Rhodes Property and secure the 

	

7 
	

Rhodes Property, including entering the Rhodes Property to change the locks (the "Entry 

	

a 
	

Provision"). 

	

9 
	

5.5 	Ms. Rhodes lawfully oxvned the Rhodes Property when it was entered 

	

10 
	upon by Wells Fargo or its agents. 

	

11 
	

5.6 	At the time of the entry, the loan securing the Rhodes Property was in 

	

12 
	

default, but no foreclosure proceedings had been initiated. 

	

13 
	

5.7 	At the time of the entry, the form deed of trust provision purporting to 

	

14 
	authorize Wells Fargo’s presence on the Rhodes Property in the event of default was 

15 unenforceable as contrary to Washington State law, pursuant to Jordan v. Nation.star 

1s Mortgage. 

	

17 
	

5.8 	At the time of the entry, the Rhodes Property was neither vacant nor 

18 abandoned. 

	

19 
	

5.9 	To gain entry to the Rhodes Property, Wells Fargo or its agent damaged 

	

20 
	the Rhodes Property, including damaging locks and a doors. 

21 
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5.10 While on the Rhodes Property, Wells Fa.rgo or its agent changed the locks I 

upon the Rhodes Property, boarded up a door, and removed personal property from the 

Rhodes Property, including two door locks and other items. 

5.11 Before leaving, Wells Fargo or its agent left a notice on the Rhodes 

Property directing the owner to contact Wells Fargo or its agent for access to the Rhodes 

Property and additional infonnation. 

5.12 Upon returning to the Rhodes Property, Ms. Rhodes discovered the 

Rhodes Property had been entered upon and the locks had been changed. Ms. Rhodes 

was able to access the interior of the house through one door whose lock had not been 

adequately changed. Once inside, Ms. Rhodes discovered the home had been winterized, I 

damaged, and items of personal property were missing. 

5.13 At no time did Wells Fargo or its agent remove its locks or lock box from 

the Ithodes Property, return or replace the original locks upon the Rhodes Property, 

return or replace the missing items of personal property, or repair or reimburse Ms. 

Rhodes for the damaged caused to the Rhodes Property. 

5.14 The exact value of the personal property eonverted from the Rhodes 

Property is unknown at this time, but is believed to exceed $1,000.00. 

5.15 The exact value of the damage to the Rhodes Property is unknown at this 

time, but multiple doors; locks, and other items suffered damage. 

5.16 The exact value of the precluded rents arising from the denial of the full 

use and enjoyment of the Estate’s real andlor personal property is unknown at this time. 
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i 	5.17 On information and belief, the actions and inactions alleged above are part 

	

z 	of Wells Fargo’s eommon business aets and praetiees. 

	

a 	 VI. PROPRIETY OF CLASS ACTION PROSECUTION 	 I 

	

a 	 Proposed Class Deriiritian 

	

s 	6.1 	The members of the proposed Class include all Citizens of Washington I! 

	

a 	State: 

	

7 	 (a) who own or owned real property in Washington State subject to a loan 

	

s 	 that was in default; 

	

s 	 (b) which property, within the applicable statute of limitations, was 

	

10 	 entered upon by Wells Fargo and/or its agents prior to the completion 

	

>> 	 of any judiciai or non judicial foreclosure; and 

	

12 	 (c) which entry upon the property by Wells Fargo and/or its agents was the 

	

13 	 proximate cause of damage to the homeowner by: 

	

14 	 (i) 	damaging the homeowner’s real or personal property; 

	

is 	 and/or 

	

is 	 (ii) 	converting the homeowner’s personal property or 

	

17 	 beiongings; andfor 

	

18 	 (iii) 	interfering with the homeowner’s full use and enjoyment of 

	

19 	 the home. 

	

zo 	 CR .23(a)(1): Numerositt, 

	

21 	6.2 	The exact nuniber of persons andCar entities similarly situated to the 
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1 

2 

3 

a 

5 

6 

7 

$ 

9 

to 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Representative Plaintiff is currently unknown. 

	

6.3 	However, on information and belief, Wells Fargo’s unlawful acts and 

I practices are widespread throughout Washington State. 

	

6.4 	Moreover, Defendant Wells Fargo is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wells 

I Fargo & Company (NYSE: WFC), which boasts online that it is "one of the nation’s 

largest financial institutions" (htmsOmmAy:wctlstaruodealerseryices.com , 	with 	$1.9 

trillion in assets (htths:?~~ti~~~ti~~~ti~‘t)~,~~~cllsi~irgonlcdia.cc~n~~assets/pdtlabouticorporatelivells- 

farao-todati,=.pol), and claims to do business with 70 million customers and one in three 

U.S. households. Id. Wells Fargo & Company reports that it is an industry leader and 

"#1" as a"Home loan originator to minority and low- to moderate-income homebuyers, 

and in low- to moderate-income neighborhoods," based on 2015 HMDA data. lut It 

further advertises itself as "‘#1" as a"Horne loan servicer," based on 1Q16 Inside 

Mortgcrge Fif:atrce. Id, It further boasts it was ranked "#l" as "U.S. Bank Lender of the 
,,.._. 

Year (2014-2015)" by Real’.a~state Capital Awards, and "#1" as "Asset-based Lender of 

the Year (2015)" by Rc crl Deal,r. Id, And it lists itself as ’41" as an "Affordable housing 

lender (2015)" by MBA Commercial/,tvtultifamily Crigination Rankings. Id. 

	

6.5 	For these reasons, it is estimated that the number of persons similarly 

situated to the Representative Plaintiff number in the hundreds to thousands or more; 

therefore, joinder of each individual proposed Class member is impracticable. 

	

6.6 	In addition, the exact number of persons similarly situated to the 

Representative Plaintiff may be identified from Wells Fargo’s records of borrowers in 
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1 default and residcnces serviced in Washington State during the applicable statute of 

2 limitations, and such persons may be identified with particularity through appropriate 

3 judicial discovery procedures, such that it would be possible to give such persons actual 

	

a 	notice of these proceedings, if required. 

	

5 
	

CR 23(a)(2): Comnr'uality 

	

6 
	

6.7 	There are questions of law and fact common among the claims of the 

	

7 
	

proposed Class Members, including but not limited to: 

	

8 
	

(a) the common actions Wells Fargo takes on proposed class members’ 

	

9 
	

properties prior to completion of "foreclosure"; 

	

14 
	

(b) Wells Fargo’s comrnon policies or practices vis-a-vis actions it takes 

	

11 
	 upon proposed class members’ properties; 

	

12 
	

(c) Welis Fargo’s common policies or practices for securing agents to 

	

13 
	 perform the actions it takes upon proposed class members’ properties; 

	

14 
	

(d) the manner, if any, in which Wells Fargo instructs or trains it agents 

	

15 
	

that take action upon proposed class members’ properties; 

	

16 
	

(e) the level of supervision, if’any,;offered by Wells Fargo over its agents 

	

17 	 .who tal:e action on proposed class members’ properties. 

	

18 
	

6.$ 	Additional comrnon questions of law and fact are addressed below under 

19 11 CR 23(b)(.3): Predominrrrrce. 

	

zo 
	

CR 23(a)(3): Tynicatity 

	

21 
	

6.9 	The claims of the Representative Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the 
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1 If class. 

	

2 
	

6.10 Representative Plaintiff Rhodes owned the Rhodes Property at the time it 

	

3 
	

was entered upon by Wells Fargo or its agents. 

	

4 
	

6.11 As such, Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and all members of the class own 

	

s 
	

or owned real property in Washington State, who, prior to completion of any judicial or 

	

s 
	

non judicial foreclosure, had their property entered upon by Wells Fargo or its agents for 

	

7 
	

purposes of conducting property preservation services upon their property, had their real 

8 or personal property located thereon damaged andJor removed by Wells Fargo or its 

	

9 
	

agents, and were denied the full use and enjoyment of their real andlor personal property 

	

10 
	

by Wells Fargo or its agents. 

	

11 
	

6.12 As a result, Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and all putative class 

	

12 
	

members have been dama,ged by Wells Fargo’s actions, which actions constitute common 

	

13 
	

violations of laws enacted for the protection of Washington State citizens. 

	

14 
	

6.13 Furthermore; Wells Farl;o’s defenses to the claims of Representative 

15 Plaintiff Rhodes and the proposed class members wiIl be identical due to: (i) Wells 

15 Fargo’s reliance on a f’orm ot’ deed of trust provision purporting to allow so-called 

17 preservation services; (ii) Wells Fargo’s common policies and practices vis-a-vis its 

18 ’ retention and supervision of agents, performanee of preservation services, scope of 

19 ’ preservation services perfonned, its response to consumer complaints, and its response to 
~ 

20 ’ borrower requests for repair to and return of their property and requests for restoration of 

21 I full and unfettered access to their property. 
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1 
	

6.14 In short, because all clairns implieate common facts and questions of law, 

	

z 
	

Wells Fargo’s defcnses will too. 

	

3 
	

CR 23(a)(4): Adenuacv of Represerrtatian 

	

4 
	

6.15 Representative Plaintiff Rhodes will fairly and adequately protect the 

	

5 
	

interests ofthe class. 

	

s 
	

6.15.1 Representative Plaintiff Rhodes comes before this Court as owner 

7 
i 

of Property that was trespassed upon, darnaged, converted, and interfered with. 

	

8 	i 
	

6.I.5.2 Representative Plaintiff is in the same capacity as any other litigant 

9 ’ seeking redress for grievances and class relief for the harm which has occurred. 

	

to 
	

6.15.3 Representative Plaintiff has no interests that are antagonistic to 

	

11 
	those of the class, and is ready and willing to bring this class action in a representative 

	

12 
	capacity on behalfof the proposed class. 

	

13 
	

6.16 Plaintiffs counsel will fairly and adequately prosecute the case on behaif 

	

14 
	of the proposed class. 	

~ 

	

15 
	

6.16.1 Attorneys leffers, Danielson, Sonn & Aytward, P.S., are 

ts experienced trial attorneys who have engaged in extensive trial practice and have ’ 

	

17 
	considerable experience in all aspects of class action litigation from several other class 

	

18 
	

action cases. 

	

19 
	

6.16.2 Plaintiff’s counsel have the necessary skills, expertise, and 	’ 

20 eompetency to adequately represent the Representative Plaintiff’s interests and those of 

	

21 
	

the class. 
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1 
	

CR 23(b)(2): Iititrnctive Relief 

	

2 
	

6.17 Wells Fargo has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to 

3 the Representative Plaintiff and all class members, thereby making appropriate final 

	

R 
	In)unctive relteF 

	

s 
	

6.18 As detailed throughout this Complaint, Wells Fargo or its agents have aI 

6 I eommon practice of entering upon Washington borrowers’ properties for purposes of J 

7 conducting property preservation services thereupon, damaging or removing borrowers’ 

8 real or personal property located therein, and denying borrowers the full use and 

	

9 
	enjoyment of their real andlar personal property. 

	

10 
	

6.19 Wells Fargo further has a common practice of not adequately training and 

	

11 
	supervising its agents in the performance of so-called property preservation services, and 

	

12 
	even instructing its agents to perform certain destruetive and disruptive acts. 

	

13 
	

6.20 Wells Fargo further has a common practice of not repairing, replacing, or 

	

14 
	reimbursing bon owers when they report property damage as a result of the above acts. 

	

15 
	

6.21 	Welis Fargo lias acted in such manners as applicable to Representative 

	

16 
	

Plaintiff Rhodes and all class members~’, 

	

17 
	

6.22 For these reasons, Plaintiff seeks class~wide injunctive relief against Wells 

	

18 
	

Fargo to restrain and enjoin these behaviors. 

	

19 
	

CR 23(b)(3): Prerlvnuuattce 

	

20 
	

6.23 Numerous legal and factual questions pertaining to the proposed class 

21 members predominate over any questions affecting only ’tndividual members, including 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

a 

9 

io 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

I ~ 

18 ~ 

19 

20 

zi 

but not limited to the following: 

6.23.1 Form Contract Provisions. Plaintiff will be able to establish the 

elements of the claims using evidence common to the class because Wells Fargo finds its 

purported authority to enter upon borrowers’ properties from unlawful form contract 

provisions applicable to all borrowers’ properties. These contract provisions are 

substantively identicai in all cases. All such substantively identical form deed of trust 

provisions were found on .Iuly 7, 2016, to be "in direct conflict with state 1aw and ... 

unenforceable" by the Washington Supreme Court in ,lordan v. Natiorrstar Mortgage. 

Exhibit D at p. 20. Such provisions are common to all putative class members and do not 

involve individualized incluiries. 

6.23.2 The IdentitY of the Propertv Owner. Still another element subject 

to common proof is the identity of the property owner. As the proposed class concerns 

only those properties entered upon by Wells Fargo prior to completion of any judicial or 

non judicial foreclosure, there are no individual questions concerning the identity of the 

rightful property owner .theF. borrotit>cr owned the property at the time of entry, not 

anyone else. This is further detailed in the Jordan v. -:Natiortstar Mortgage opinion, in 

which the Washington Supreme Court reaff nned the borrower’s right to exclusive 

possession of the property prior to the completion of any foreclosure proceedings. 

Exhibit D. 

6.23.3 Wells Fargo’s Relationship with its Agents. Plaintiff will be able 

to establish the elements of her claims using evidence common to the class because the 

COMPLAINT FOR Cl:ASS ACTION AND 
DAMAGES 
Page 20 
1560702 

Idlen. Uaniebon, Sana & Aylwan[, P.S. 
Atuurneya at Law 

260o thesur Kimm [toad 1 P O Iiox 1686 
Wenatchcq WA 98807�1688 

(509) 662�3685 ! (S09) 662�2<S2 FAX 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



1 primary inquiries involve Wells Farga’s conduet. That is, Wells Fargo has a common 

z policy and practice of training and instructing its agents to enter properties, prior to 

	

3 
	

completion of any foreclosure. Wells Fargo further instructs its agents to use whatever 

a means necessary to enter properties, including drilling out the borrower’s locks, and, 

s once inside, agents are instructed to, rnter alia, "trasli out" the premises by taking and 

6 carrying away personal property found therein. Thus, evidence common to all rnembers ’ 

	

7 
	

of the class includes Wells Fargo’s selection of, screening of, training of, instructions to, ’ 

8 and oversight of employees/agents. Such evidence is common to all putative class ’ 

	

9 
	members and does not involve individualized inquiries. 

	

io 
	

6.23.4  The Conduct of Wells Fargo’s Agents in Entering and Damaging  ’ 

	

>> 
	or ConvertingLBorrowers’ Property.  Plaintiff will be able to establish the elements of her ’ 

tz claims using evidence common to the class because, as to all putative class members, II 

13 Wells Fargo’s agents acted similarly while on borrowers’ properties; namely, they: (a) 

tA committed unautliorized entry upon borrowers’ properties; (b) conducted unlawful 

	

95 
	

forcible entries involv’rng damage to existing locks, doors andlor windows; (c) damaged 

16 and converted personal property found thereon; and (d) interfered with borrowers’ full 

17 use and enjoyment of their properties. This theory is common to al) putative class 

	

18 
	members and does not involve individualized inquiries. 

	

19 
	

6.23.5  Wells Fargo’s Policies and Procedures for Respgndina to 

	

zo 
	

Customer Complaints.  Plaintiff will be able to establish the elements of her claims using 

21 evidence comrnon to the class because Wells Fargo’s policies and procedures for 
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1 responding to customer complaints of its agents’ entry, conversion of borrowers’ 

	

z 
	

property, and interference with borrowers’ full use and enjoyment of their property are 

	

3 
	

the same in all cases. That is, Wells Fargo does not immediately restare possession of the 

4 property to the owner, does not return or replace the property’s original locks, does not 

	

5 
	

remove its locks from the property upon demand, and does not return or replace personal 

e property removed from the property. These facts are common to all putative class 

	

7 
	members and do not involve individualized inquiries. 

	

8 
	

6.23.6  Class Members’ Damages.  Plaintiff will be able to establish the 

	

9 
	

elements of her claims using evidence common to the class because all putative class 

10 members suffered the same type of damage; namely, in}ury to real andlor personal 

	

11 
	property from Wells Fargo’s forcible entry, damage to andlor conversion of personal 

12 property, and interference with the full use and enjoyment of the property by the 

13 borrower. This fact is common to all putative class members and will not reguire 

	

14 
	

individualized inquiries. 

	

15 
	

6.24 As a result, the prosecution of a class action is superior to other available 

	

18 
	methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

	

17 
	

6.25 Individual actions are not likely to seek sufficient damages to warrant 

	

18 
	assuming the cost of litigation. 1-Iere, the damages sustained by each ’putative class 

19 member are not large, generally including damage to doors, windows, and/or personal 

	

20 
	property within the residence. Theref’ore, each putative class member wiIl have difficulty 

21 ’ maintaining an individual action, and a class action is a superior method to adjudicate 
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1 I I their claims. 

2 
	

6.26 tn addition, hundreds to thousands (or more) of individual actions would 

3 
	greatly congest the Washington State courts. 

a 
	

6.27 A class action is the most cost-effective way for consumers to prevent 

5 
	

future economic and pecuniary loss to hundreds to thousands (or more) of Washington 

6 
	citizens and members of the public at large by Wells Fargo. 

7 
	

6.28 7’his action is superior to any other available method for the fair and 

8 I efficient adjudication of the controversy. 

s 
	

VII. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 
COMMON LAW TRESPASS 

10 

	

7.1 	Wells Fargo andfor its agents wrongfully and intentionally entered onto 
11 

the Rhodes Property and properties owned by borrowers throughout the state of 
12 

Washington in advance of the conclusion of any foreclosure proceedings. 
13 ’ 

	

7.2 	As detailed by the Washington Supreme Court in Jordan v. Nationstar 
14 

Mortgcrge, prior to the compietion of any foreclosure proceedings, the borrower has the 
15 ’ 

exclusive risltt to possess their property, and Wells Fargo has no legal right to be there. 
16 

Exhibit D. Therefore, Wel1s Fargo°s entry upon borrowers’ properties is an invasion that 
17 ’ 

affects the borrower’s interest in their exclusive possession of the property. 
18 ’ 

	

7.3 	Wells Fargoss intent to invade borrowers’ possessory interests is 
1s ’ 

demonstrated by its clairned authority purportedly granted in its fonn deed of trust 
20 ’ 

provisions, which claim to permit such entries in the event of default or abandonment of 
21 

propertiesi~--which the Washington Supreme Court recently invalidated. 
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1 
	

7.4 	Such intent to enter is further evidenced by Wells Fargo’s or its agents’ 

	

2 
	acts of changing borrowers’ loeks, performance of so-called "preservation services" on 

3 borrowers’ properties, and the notices left for homeowners to contact Welis Fargo to 

	

4 
	obtain entry to their properties. 

	

s 
	

7.5 	Wells Fargo remained on the Rhodes Property and on borrowers’ ! 

	

s 	properties during the period of entry and thereafter by changing the locks and requiring 

	

7 
	

borrowers to contact Wells Fargo in order to regain full access to their properties. 

	

a 
	

7.6 	It was reasonably foreseeable that Wells Fargo’s unauthorized and ’ 

9 unlawful entries onto borrowers’ properties in advance of the conclusion of any 

	

so 
	

foreclosure proceedings would invade borrowers’,  possessory interests in those properties. ’ 

	

11 
	

7.7 	As a result of’ Wells Fargo’s acts as detailed above, Representative ’ 

	

12 
	

Plaintiff Rhodes and borrowers suffered the damages detailed herein in an amount to be ’ 

	

13 
	proven at trial. 

	

14 
	

VIII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 
INTENTIONAL TRESPASS (RCW 4.24.630) 

35 

	

8.1 	Wells Fargo entered onto the Rhodes Property and properties owned by 
16 

borrowers throughout the state of Washington. 
17 

	

8.2 	Wetls Fargo intentionally, unreasonably, and forcibly entered onto such 
ie 

properties, and intentionally and unreasonably damaged or removed property thereon. 
19 

	

8.3 	For example;  Wells Fargo darnaged locks and doors on the R.hodes 
20 

Property, kept the locks, removed personai property from the Rhodes Property, and 
21 

denied Representative Plaintiff Rhodes the full use and enjoyment of her personal and ’ 
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1 

z 

3 

4 

s 

s 

7 

s 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 I 
i 

~ 

19 

~ 
20 I 

21 

j real property. 

	

8.4 	Wells Fargo intended to act in this manner, as evidenced by its instruction 

to its agents to engage in these behaviors, and its deliberate acts to engage in these 

behaviors. 

	

8.5 	Wetls Fargo l:new or had reason to know that it had no authorization to 

engage in such behaviors because the form contract provisions it relied upon — while 

unlawful .--. nevertheless do not authorize damage to real or personal property, do not 

authorize conversion of personal property located upon or.within a property, and do not 

authorize interference with the owner's (or other lawful occupant's) full use and 

enjoyment of the property. 

	

8.6 	Wells Fargo engaged in the above actions wholly without permission of 

Representative Plaintiff Rhodes or other Washington borrowers. 

	

8.7 	It was substantially certain that Wells Fargo's andlor its agents' above- 

described actions would damage the Rhodes Property and the properties of other 

Washington borrowers. 	 I 

	

8.8 	Wells Fargo's actions are part of its common practice relative to countless 

Washington borrowers. 

	

8.9 	As a result, Wells 'Fargo wrongfully caused waste or injury to these 

properties, or wronl;fully injured personal property or improvements to real estate on 

land. 
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1 
	

8.10 Wells Fargo's actions above each constitute separate violations of RCW 

2 114.24.630. 

	

3 
	

8.11 As a direct and proximate result of Wells Fargo's and/or its agents' 

	

4 
	violations of RCW 4.24.630, Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class members have 

	

s 	suffered damages to their real and personal properties in an amount to be proven at trial. 

	

s 
	

8.12 Wells I'argo is liable to Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and ctass 

	

7 
	members for treble the amount of damages caused bv its violations of RCW 4.24.630. 

	

s 
	

8.13 Wells Fargo is liable to Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class 

	

9 
	members for their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.24.630. 

	

10 
	

8.14 Wells Fargo is liable . to Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class 

	

11 
	members for their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.24.630. 

	

12 
	

i?f. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 
VIOLATION OF CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT (RCW 19.86, et seq.) 

13 

9.1 	Wells Faruo Cngaged in Unfair or Deceptive Acts and Practices. 
14 

9.1:1 The following actions of Wells Fargo constitute unfair and 
15 

deceptive acts and practices for the purposes of RCW 19.86, et seq.: Wells Fargo's 
16 

common practices of unlawfullv entering borrowers' properties in advance of the 
17 

conclusion of any foreclpa re proceedings;;forcible entries via drilling out existing door 
18 

locks; keeping the locks; damaging doors and windows, removing personal property; 
19 

refusing to refund, repair;  or compensate for damage caused and property taken; denying' 
20 

owners or legal occupants the full use and enjoyment of their real and/or personal 
21 

property; and failing to respond or timely respond to demands for repairs, return of 
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1 
	property, and access to their property. 

	

z 
	

9.1.2 These acts are unfair because the Washington Supreme Court in 

	

3 
	

Joa•da,i v. Narionsrcu• hiortgage recently deemed such practices a clear violation of 
i 

4 I  Washington state law, and the deed of trust provisions purporting to authorize them 

	

5 
	unenforceable as contrary to law. These acts are further unfair because of the unequal 

	

s 
	bargaining power betwccn the individual homeowner or occupant and a large, multi- 

7' national company who (or on whose behalf its agents) forcibly enters properties, drills 

	

a 	out the existing locks, places its own locks on the properties, interferes with owners' or 

	

9 
	legal occupants' full use and enjoynient of the properties, converts personal property 

	

10 
	located upon the properties, and refuses to return or replace damaged or converted 

	

11 
	property to the rightful owner. 

	

12 
	 9.1.3 These acts are deceptive because when Wells Fargo or its agents 

	

13 
	perform them, the property owner is unaware that they are occurring, and sueh acts are 

	

14 
	not authorized via any form deed of trust provision. 

	

15 
	 9.1 .4 Wells Fargo engaged in similar unfair and deceptive acts and 

	

16 
	practices vis-a-vis many Washington borrowers. 

	

17 
	

9.2 	Weils Fargo's Acts Occurred in Trade or Commerce. Wells Fargo's 

ia unfair and deceptive acts occurred in trade or eommerce because, on information and 

19 belief, Wells Fart;o is one of the largest lenders in the country and was the lender in 

20 charge of servicing the Rhodes Propertylclass members' properties at the time of the 

	

21 
	challenged acts. 
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1 
	

9.3 	Wells Fargo's Acts Impact the Public Interest. 

	

2 
	

9.3.1 Wells Fargo's unfair or deceptive acts impacted the public interest 

	

3 
	

because they were committed in the course of Wells Fargo's business, Wells Fargo 

	

4 
	advertises similar services to the public in general, and Wells Fargo and Representative 

	

s 
	

Plaintiff Rhodes/class members (as an individual consumers) occupy unequal bargaining 

s I I positions. 

	

7 
	

9.3.2 Wells Fargo engages in a course of conduct whereby the same or 

	

a 	similar unfair or deceptive acts are repeated as to borrowers across Washington State. 

	

9 
	

9.3.3 There exists a real and substantial potential for repetition of Wells 

10 Fargo's conduct in the future because, on infonnation and belief, Wells Fargo is one of 

	

11 
	the largest lenders in the country. 

	

12 
	

9.4 	Causation.  

	

13 
	

9.4.1 Causation is satis[ied through the common proof that Wells 

14 Fargo's policy and practice is to instruct its agents to enter borrowers' homes, to do so 

	

15 
	

forcibly, to remove personal property therefrom, and to place and maintain its own locks 

	

1s 
	and lock boxes on borrowers' properties. 

	

17 
	

9.4.2 TEiese common instructions proximately cause borrowers' damages 

18 I because, but for Wells Fargo's instructions to its agents, there would be no entry, 

	

19 
	conversion, or interference resulting in damage to bon-owers. 

	

20 
	

9.5 	Injury to Business or Property.  As a direct and proximate result of Wells 

21 I Fargo's unfair or deceptive acts as set forth above, Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and 
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I 
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ii 
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13 ' 
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15 	' 

1s 

17 

18 

19 ' 'I 

20 I 

21 	~ 

class members have suffered injury to their properties in an amount to be proven at trial- 

	

9.6 	Wells Fargo's above-listed unfair or deceptive acts constitute violations of 

RC W 19.86, et seq. 

	

9.7 	Wells Fargo is liable to Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class 

members for treble the amount of their damages, including those arising from the 

interference with the full use and enjoyment of their real andlor personal properties, 

caused by the violations of RCW 19.86, et .seq. 

	

9.8 	Wells Fargo is liable to Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class 

members for their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to RCW 19.86, et seq. 

X. 	FOURTI-I CAU5E OF ACTION: 
CONVERSION 

10.1 Wells r-argo instructs its agents to remove personal property and I 

belongings from borrowers' residences in the course of "preservation services." 	I 

10.2 Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class mernbers enjoyed a possessory 

property interest in the personal property that Wells Fargo or its agents removed from the 

borrowers' properties because the locks and other items that were taken belonged to ' 

Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class members. 

10.3 Wells Fargo's rernoval %vas unjustified because Wclls Fargo intentionally ' 

removed personal property belonging to Representative PIaintiff Rhodes and class ' 

members, without consent or perrnission and without authority of the court. 

10.4 Wells Fargo'S acts constitute willful interference with chattel because 

Wells Fargo acted intcntionally and its acts of removal deprived Representative Plaintiff I 
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1 
	

Rhodes and class members of the possession and control of their personal property. 

	

2 	
, 
	10.5 To date, Wells Fargo has not returned the personal property it took from 

	

3 
	

Representative Plaintifl' Rhodes and class members' properties. 

	

4 
	

I 	10.6 Such failure to return constitutes an unjustified and willful interference 

	

5 
	

I with Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class members' personal property, and 

6 demonstrates an intent to exercise permanent dominion or control over Representative 

	

7 
	

Plaintiff Rhodes and class members' personal property. 

	

a 
	

10.7 Wells Farbo's unjustiEied interference with Representative Plaintiff 

9 Rhodes and class members' personal property with intent to exercise dominion and 

	

10 
	

control of the personal property without lawful justification constitute acts of conversion. 

	

11 
	

10.8 As a direct and proximate result of Wells Fargo's conversion, 

	

12 
	

Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and class members suffered damages in an amount to be 

	

13 
	proven at trial. 

	

14 
	

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

	

15 
	

WI-ICRFFORF.;<.Representative Plaintiff Rhodes, and on behalf of others similarly 

	

16 
	situated, demands judgment against Wells.

Ttargo as follows: 

	

17 
	

1. 	For entry of a judgment in favor of Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and ' 

18 class members against Wells Fargo for damages in an arnount to be proven at trial, ' 

19 , including treble damages pursuant to RCW 4.24.630, RCW 19.86.090, and/or other ' 

	

20 
	applicable law; 

	

21 	' 
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2. For entr}r of a judgment in favor of Representative Plaintiff Rhodes and 

class members and against Wells Fargo for reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant 

to RCW 4.24.630, RCW 19.86.090, and/or other applicable law; 

3. For injunctive rclief restrainin8 Wells Fargo from further violation of 

RCW 19.86, et .veq., as alleged herein; and 

4. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

DATED this 8"' day of December, 2016. 

JEFFERS DANIELSON, SONN & AYLWARD, P.S. 

~ 
M. GATENS, 	3 WSBA No. 4102 

SALLY F. WHITE, WSBA No. 49457 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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FILED 

1 S SEP 12 2012 
L 	t~, ~tor~o~ 

cn.t~n cor~my c~enk 

IN '1't-IE SU1'ERIOR COURT OF TIdE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

COUNTY OF CHEI.AN  

LAURA ZAMORA JORDAN, as her 	) NO. 12-2-00385-2 
separate estate, and on behalf of others 	} 
similarly situated, 	 ) F1RST AMENDED COMPLAIN"I' FOR 

) DAMAGES 
Plaintiff, 	 } 

} 
vs. 	 } 

} 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGI:; LLC, a 	) 
Delaware iimited liability company, 	) 

) 
De fendant. 	 ~ 

Plaintiff, LAURA ZAMORA JORDAN, by and through her attorneys of record, 

Jeffcrs, Danielson, Sonn & Aylward, F'.S., by Clay M. Gatens and MichelJe A. Green, for 

cause of action against the Defendant herein, alleges as follows: 

I. PARTIES 

1.1 	Plaintiff, LAURA ZAMORA JORDAN, was at all times material hereto a' 

resident of Chelan County, Washingtan. 
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1 
	

1.2 	On information and belief,, at all times relevant hereto, Defendant 

z NATI(JNSTAR MORTGACiE, LLC it"Nat'ionstar"), was a Delaware limited liability 

3 
	company transacting business in Chelan County, Washington. 

4 
	

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

s 
	

2.1 	Jurisdiction and venue are appropriate in the Chelan County Superior Court : 

6 
	pursuant to RCW 4.1 2.010 and RCW 4,12.020. 

7 
	

111. FACTS 

8 
	

3.1 	I'laintiff, L~V,RA ZAMORA JORDAN, ffk/a LAURA ZAMORA ("Mrs. 

Jordan"), 'is the. fee. title owner W _a si' 	family, home located at 1318 9'E' Street, , 

10 
	

Wenatchee, Washington 98801 (the "Jordan Residence"),. 

11 
	

3,2 	Nationstar is the benehciary of a deed of trust secured by the Jordan 

12 
	

Residence and recorded under Cltelan County Auditor Number 2265162 (the "Deed of ; 
i 

13 'l'rust"). The Deed of Trust contains a provision, which statcs that if Mrs. Jordan ~ 

14 abandons the Jordan Residence, the lender may do whatever is reasonable and ~ 

15 
	appropriate to protect the lender's interest in the Jordan Residence and secure the Jordan ; 

16 Residence, including enterinb the Jordan Residence to change the locks (the "Entry 

17 
	

I} rovision"). 

18 
	

3.3 	Nationstar has not, at any time, commenced any judicial or non judieial 

,s 
	

foreclosure proceedings relative lo Iw1rs. Jordan or the Jordan Residence. 

20 
	

3.4 	On or about April 3, 2011, Nationstar and/or its agents entered the Jordan 

21 
	Residence, removed the existing locks, and installed at lockbox, without any notice to 
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Mrs. Jordan and despite that Mrs. Jordan was then residing at the Jordan Residence and 

the Jordan Residence contained Mrs. Jordan's belongings. "Che Jordan Residence: did not 

appcar to be abandoned and Mrs. Jordan's belongings inside the residence were readily 

observable upon a simple visual inspection of the Jordan Residence. 

3.5 	On or about Apr'sl 4, 2011, ivlrs. Jordan returned to the Jordan Residence 

I to discover that the locks to the residencc had been changed. A sign posted on the I 

I interior window of the Jordan Residence stated that the locks had been changed by non- I 

party Field Asset Services, Inc. There was a telephone number listed on the notice. Mrs. 

Jordan called this number and spoke with a representative of Nationstar. The Nationstar 

representative asked if Mrs. Jordan was stiil living at the Jordan Rcsidence. Mrs. Jordan 

informcd the Nationstar representative that she was still living at the Jordan Residence 
i 

and that all of her belongings were at the Jordan Residencz. Mrs. Jordan stated that she 

was in a panic because Nationstar had changed the lock and she could not access her 

home or her belongings. When Mrs. Jordan stated she needed access to her home and 

betongings, the Nationstar representative informed Mrs. Jordan that she needed to contact 

a realtor to list the Jordan Residence f'or sale. Mrs. Jordan asked if she needed to move 

out of thc Jordan Residcnce since she could not afford to pay her loan. The N:=.tionstar 

representative again directcd Mrs. Jordan to list the Jordan Residence for sale. 

3.6 	Mrs. Jordan stated that she was confused, did not understand why she was 

bein}; locked out of her home, and pleaded with the Nationstar representative to aive her 

access to her horne so that she could get her belongings,"iiicluding her clothing so that she 
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1 
	could go to work. Nationstar's representative gave Mrs. Jordan a temporary access code 

2 
	to upen the key lockbox that had been placed on the front door of the Jordan Residence 

3 
	so that she could retrieve her belongings. Nationstar's agent asked Mrs. Jordan how long 

4 
	

it would take her to remove her belongings and toid Mrs. Jordan that she needed to put 

s the key back inside the lockbot once she had removed her belongings. Nationstar's 

s 	representative again directed Mrs. lordan to contact a realtor to list the Jardan Residence ' 

7 
	

for sale, stating that the sale would be for the benefit of Nationstar. 

6 
	

3.7 	Mrs. lordan asked if Nationstar was going to start a foreclosure against 

9. her. The Nationstar representative informed Mrs. Jordan that Nationstar would_ be 

10 
	startt`ng a judicial foreclosure against her, but that it was not necessary for Mrs. Jordan to 

11 
	appear in court when she receivcd the notices. 

12 
	

3.8 	Within twelve (12) days, Mrs. Jordan rerrtoved all of her personal oroperty 

13 
	

from the Jordan Rcsidence'and moved in with her parents. Since removing her persona) 

14 
	

lx-longings from the Jordan Residence, neither Mrs. Jordan nor her agents have had use 

15 
	or possession of the Jordan Rc'#idence. 

16 
	

3.9 	Nationstar hgs~ not responded to demands to remove the locks trom the 

17 
	

Jordan Residence. 

48 
	

3.10 No foreclosure procecdings have been instituted against Mrs. Jordan 

tg 
	relative to the Jordan Residence. 

20 

21 

FtRS7' AMENDEp COMPLAINT FOR t3AMAGES 
Page 4 
97i?59 

JeQers, DmiAtaet.Sane b Aylrerd. P.S. 
Attwncyr r. lu+ 

z6t!D C6ester Ktmm Rtuu1,° P O 8ua 16/4 
Wsr.u4hK.WA 99907.ibt[ 

t;'r6V) 58i=1535P{309) 6b1*'.~i2 fAX 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



1 
	 3.11 Nationstar continues to scnd payment requests to tvirs. Jordan, despite 

2 
	notice from Mrs. Jordan's legal counsel to direct all communication and collection efforts 

3 
	to Mrs. Jordan's legal counsel. 

4 
	 3.12 Nationstar has billed Mrs. Jordan for fees relating to the wrongful 

5 changing of the locks and is attempiing to collect arnounts, despite notice frorn Mrs. 

s 
	Jordan's legal counsel to direct all communication and collection efforts to Mrs. Jordan's 

7 
	

legal counsel. 

e 
	 IV. FIRST CAUSE OF ACT[ON: 

TRESI'ASS 
s 

4.1 	Nationstar and/or its agents wrongfully and without authorization entered 
,o 

upon the Jordan Residence, 
11 

4.2 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions constitute trespass. 
12 

4.3 	As a direct and proximate result uf'this trespass, Mrs. Jordan has suffered , 
13 	

damages in an amount to bc proven at triai. 	 I  
14 

V. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 
15 
	

RCW 4,24.630 / INTENTIONAL TRESPASS 

ts 
	

5.1 	Nationstar and/or its agents intcntionally and unreasonably entered upon 

» the Jordan Residence, knowing or havin}; reason to know that it and/or they lacked 

18 authorization to do so, and wrongfully removed existing locks from the Jordan 

19 
	

Residence. 

20 
	

5.2 	Nationstar and/or its agents wrongfully caused waste and/or injury to the 

21 
	

Jordan Residence. 
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1 
	

5.3 	Nationstar and/or its agents wrongfully caused injury to Jordan's personal 

z property and/or Jordan's improvements at the Jordan Rcsidence when it and:`br they 

3 
	wrongfully removed the existing locks at the Jordan Residence and installed the lockbox 

4 
	at the Jordan Residence. 

s 
	

5.4 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions above each constitute separate 

6 intentional trespasses under RCW 4.24.630 because Nationstar knew or had reason to 

7 
	

know that it lacked authority to so act. 

B 
	

5.5 	As a direct and proximate result of' these intentional trespasses, Jurdan has 

4 
	suffered damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

~o 
	

5.6 	Nationstar is liable to lordan for treblc the amount of damages caused by 

11 
	

its intentional trespasses. 

12 
	

5.7 	Nationstar is liable to Jordan for her reasonable attorney's fees and costs,. 

13 
	

V[. THtRll CAUSE OF ACTION: 
SEVF.RE  EMOTIONAL DISTRESS/OUTRAGE 

14 

	

6.1 	Mrs, Jordan was i'riglitened when she learned that she was locked out of 
1s 

her house. Mrs. Jordan was also traumatized by the expericnce of havinb to immediately 
16 

remove her personal items 1'rom her home and find a place to live. Mrs. Jordan suffered 
17 

embarrassment and anxiety regarding the actual status of her home, which continues to 
18 

date. 

19 

6.2 	As a direct;` 	proximate result of Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions, 
zo 

Mrs. Jordan has suffered, and cont'snues to suffer. severe emotional distress. 
21 
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1 
	

VII. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 
VIOLATION OF TI-IE FAIR DEI3T COLLEC'I'ION PRACTICES ACT 

z 

7.1 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions in entering the Jordan Residence 
3 

and changing the locks wifhout authorization constitute a violation of the Fair Debt 
a 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et. seq. 
s 

7.2 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions in failing to remove the lock box 
6 

after Mrs. Jordan not'tfied Nat:i60star that she was living at the Jordan Residence and that 
7 

all of her belongings were irnside the Jordan Residence constitute a violation of .he Pair 
s 

Debt Collection Practices Act;:15 L.S.C. § 169-7;et. seq. 
9'. 

7.3 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions in 'snforming Jordan that she no I 
1a ; 

longer had any right to access rar remain at the Jordan Residence andfor that Mrs. Jordan 
11 

needed to list the Jordan Residence for sale constitute a violat.ion of the Fair Debt 
12 

Collection Practiees Aet, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et. seq. 
13 

7.4 	Nationstar's andtor its agents' actions in informing Mrs. Jordan that it was 
14 

not neeessary f'or her to appear in court when Nationstar commenced a judicial 
ts 

foreclosure against her constitute a violation of the rair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 
16 

U.S.C. § 1692 et. seq. 
17 

7.5 	Nationstar's andlor ' iis agents' actions in continuing to contact Mrs. 
ts 

Jordan, despite notice to diiect all communication aiad collectiun efforts to Mrs. .lordan's 
19 

legal counsel, constitute a v3i"olation of the Fair Debt Cotlection Practices Act, 15 U:S.C. 
20 

§ 1692 et. seq. 
21 
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1 
	

7.6 	Nationstar's andlor its agents' actions in billing Mrs. Jordan for fees 

z 	relating to the wrongl'ul locl: changi and attempting to collect such amounts, constitute a 

3 
	violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 ll.S:.C. §1692 et. seq. 

4 
k 

	7.7 	The Entry Provis€dn ]n the Dced of Trust authorizing Nationstar to enter 

5 the Jordan Residcnce and chanl;c the locks if the property is abandoned without the 

6 
	necessity of a court-appointed receiver is unenforceable, and constitutes a violation of the 

7 
	

Fair Debt Collection Practices~Ai t, 15 l:#:S.C. § 1692 et. seq. 

8 
	

7.8 	As a dii`ect and proxiniate result of Nationstar's and/or its agents' 

9 
	violafions of the Faic Detit''Collection Practices Act above, Mrs. Jordan has.:~uffered 

10 
	

damages in an amount to be proven at tr`ial. 

it 
	

7.9 	Nationstar is,liable to Mrs. Jordan for her reasonable attomey's fees and 

u~ costs. 

13 I 

	

VIII. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 
VIOLATION OF CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

14 

	

8.1 	Nationstar's andlur its asents' actions in entering the Jordan Residence 
15 

and changing the locks without authori7.ation constitute unfair or deceptive acts in trade 
16 

or commerce in violation of the Consumer Protection Act„ RCW 19.86 et. seq. 
17 

	

8.2 	Nationstar's andPor `iis agents' actions in failing to remove the lock box 
18 . 

after Mrs. Jordan notifsed Nationstar that she was living at the Jordan Residence and that 
19 

all of her belongings were inside the Jordan Residence con.4titutes unfair or deceptive acts 
20 

in trade or commercc in violation of the Consumer Protecti`bn Act, RCW 19.86 et. seq. 
21 
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1 
	

8.3 	Nationstar's and/or its a8ents' actions in infotming Jordan that she no 

z 
	

longer had any right to access or remain at the Jordan Residence artd/or that Mrs. Jordan 

3 
	needed to list the Jordan Residence l'or salc constitute unfair or deceptive acts in trade or 

a 	commerce in violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86 et. seq. 

s 
	

8.4 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions in informing Mrs. Jordan that it was ' 

6 not neeessary for her to appear in court when Nationstar cumrnenced a judicial 

7 
	

foreclosure against her constitute unfair or deceptive acts in trade or comnterce in 

8 
	violation ofthe Consumer 13rotection Act, RCVe' 19.86 et. seq. 

9 
	

8.5 	Nationstar's andlor its agents' actions in continuing to contact Mrs. I 

io 
	

Jordan, despite notice to direct all communication and collection etTorts to Mrs. Jordan's 

11 
	

legal counsel, constitute unfair or deceptive acts in tradc or commeree in violation of the 

12 
	

Consumer Proteetion Act, RCW 19.86 et. seq. 

13 
	

8.6 	Nationstar's and/or its agcnts' actions in billing Mrs. Jordan for fees 

14 relating to the wrongfui lock change and attempting to collect such amounts constitute 

is 
	unfair or deceptive acts in trade or commerce in violation of thc Consumer Protection 

16 
	

Act, RCW 19.86 et. seq. 

n 
	

8.7 	The Entry Provision' in the Deed of Trust authorizing Nationstar to enter 

18 the Jordan Residence and change the locks if the property is abandoned without the 

19 necessity of a court-appointed receiver is uncnforceable, and constitutes an unfair or 

za 
	

deceptive act in trade or corntnerce in violation of the Consumer Protection Act, RCW 

21 
	

19.86 ct. seq. 

FIt2ST AMENDED COMPLAIN'1' FOR DAMAGI:S 	 JeRen.u.m{ewn.som+aAyi-..a.Y.S. 
Attmnq-, au Law 

Page 9 	 2A00C'lruerKimM0.adPPO,i.j. 168/ 
974759 	 Wawcfie4wA 98107-1te4 

(NA) 662.2615 1'(309) 66244;3 FAX 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



1 	8.8 	Nationstar's vicrlations of the Consumer Protection Act set forth above are 

2 injurious to the public interest and havei'had the capacity to injure or deceive other 

3 	persons and/or the public. It'is likely that addi'tional persons liave becn or will bE injured 

a 	in the sarne manner as Mrs.:Jordan in this case. 

s 	8.9 	As a direct and proximate result of Nationstar's and/or its agents' 

s violations of the Consurner Protection Act set forth above, Mrs. Jordan has suffered 

7 	damages, including darnages to her property, in an amount to be provcn at trial. 	I 
~ 

i 
s 	810 Treble damages are properly awardable for Nationstar's violations of the I 

9 	Consuincr- Protection Act under RCW 19.,86.090. 

10 	8.11 	Nationstar ii;;liable to Mrs, Jordan for her reasonable attorney's .rees and 

.: 
11 	costS. 

12 	 IX. SIXTI-I CAUSE OF ACTtON: 
IiREACH OF COnTRACT 

13 

9.1 	To the extcnt thc Court determines the Entry Provision is enforeeable, the 
14 

Deed of Trust requires that Nationstar, or its agents or assigns, have reasonable tause to 
1s 

enter upon the Jordan Residencc. No reasonable cause existed for Nationstar and/or its 
1s 

agents to enter upon the Jordan Residence or to determine the .Tordan Residence was 
17 

abandoned. Furtherrnore, Nationstar and/or its agents, did not give any prior r,otice to 
1s 

Mrs. Jordan-before entry upon the Jordan residence. 
19 

9.2 	Nationstar's and/or its agents' actions above constitute a breacti of the 
zo 

terms ofthe Deed of Trust. 
21 
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i 
	

9.3 	As a direct and proximate result of Nationstar's breach, Mrs. Jordan has 

2 
	suffered damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

3 
	

9.4 	Nationstar is liattle to Mrs. Jordan ibr her reasonable attorney's fees and 

4 I cOsts. 

5 
	

X. I'RAYER FOR RELIEF 

6 
	

WWEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judbrnent against Defendant as follows: 

7 
	

1. 	For entry of a judsment in favor of Plaintiff against Defendant for 

e 
	damages in an amount to bc proven at trial, including treble darnages as set forth above; 

9 
	

2. 	For entry of a judgment in tavor of the Plaitltiff and against the Defendant 

10 
	for her reasonable attorney's fees and eosts pursuant to RCW 4.24.630, RCW 19.86.090, 15 

11 
	

U.5.C. § 1692 et. seq., andlor other applicable law; and 

12 
	

3. 	For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

13 

14 
	 DATED this:~~ay o1' September, 2012. 

15 
	 JCFFERS, DAN[ELSON, SONN & AYLWARD, P.S. 

16 J 

17 
	

13Y 

AY M. GATENS, WSBA 934102 
is 
	 MICHL~LLE°, A. GREEN, WSBA #40077 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
19 

20 

21 
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Case 2:3.4-cv-00175-TOR Document 72 Filed 08/30t15 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 
	

UMTED S"I'ATES DISTRICT COURT 

6 
	 EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHiNGTON 

7 

$ 

9 

LAURA ZAMORA JORDAN, as her 
separate estate, and on behalf of others 
similarly situated, 

Plaintiff,  

NO: 2:14-CV-0 175-TOR 

ORDER CERTIFYING QUESTIONS 
TO WASIlI3'J.GTON SUPREME 
COURT 

101 
	

V. 

111 NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, a 
Delaware limited liability company, 

12 
Defendant. 

13 

14 
	

On July 30, 2015, this Court heard oral argument on Nationstar's Motion for 

15 
	

Partial Summary Judgment (ECF No. 45) and Plaintiffls Motion for Partial 

16 
	

Summary Judgment (ECF No. 61). 

17 
	

Finding that the instant motions present questions of state law that have not 

1$ 
	

been clearly determined by either the Washington Supreme Court or the 

19 Washington appellate courts and that answers to these questions are necessary to 

20 

~ ORDER CERTIFYING QUESTIONS TO WASI-IINGTON SUPREME COURT 1 
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Case 2:14-cv-00175-TaR Docurnent 72 Filed 08/10/15 

	

1 
	

dispose of these motions, this Court, upon its own motion, certifies to the 

	

2 
	

Washington Supreme Court several questions of law. 

	

3 
	

DISCUSSION 

	

4 
	

RCW chapter 2.60 governs the procedure for a federal court to certify a 

	

5 
	

question of state law to the Washington Supreme Court: 

	

6 
	

When in the opinion of any federal court before whom a proceeding is 
pending, it is necessary to ascertain the local law of [Washington] in 

	

7 
	

order to dispose of such proceeding and the local law has not been 
clearly determined, such federal court may certify to the supreme 

	

8 
	

court for answer the question of local law involved and the supreme 
court shall render its opinion in answer thereto. 

9 
RCW 2.60.020.' Certification is particularly appropriate when the state law issue 

10 
is especially complex and presents significant policy irnplications. Pei-ez-Far-ias v. 

11 
Glob. Hoi-i_oiis, Inc., 668 F.3d 589i 593 (9th Cir. 2011); see also Keystone Land & 

12 
Dev. Co:. v. Xei•ox Co,p., 353 F.3d 1093, 1097 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding that 

13 
certification is appropriate wliere an unsettled issue of law, if elarified definitively, 

14 

15I 
	

~ Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, "[t]he Supreme Court 

	

16 	may entertain a petition to deterrnine a question of law certified to it under the 

	

17 
	

Federal Court Local Law Certificate Procedure Act if the question of state law is 

181 one which has not been clearly determined and does not involve a question 

19 determined by reference to the United States Constitution." Wash. R. App. P. 

20'. 16.16(a). 
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1 	would have "far-reacliing effects" on those subject to Washington law). As noted 

	

2 	by the Supreme Court, the certification procedure, when appropriately invoked, 

	

3 	saves "time, energy, and resources and helps build a cooperative judicial 

	

4 	federalism." Lehman Bros. v. Schein, 4 i 6 U.S. 386, 391 (1974). Such a procedure 

5"may be invoked by a federal court upon its own motion or upon the motion of any 

	

b 	interested party in the litigation involved." RCW 2.60.030( l). 

	

7 	Here, the parties' cross-motions for partial summary judgment present 

	

8 	complex issues of state law, wliich have significant policy irnplications and will 

	

9 	have far-reaching effects on those in Washington. Put succinctly, this Court has 

	

10 	been asked to decide whetller so-called Entry Provisions within the deeds of trust 

	

11 	of Plaintiff and other class members are enforceable under Washington law absent 

	

12 	post-default consent of the borrower or permission from a court. Nationstar 

	

13 	contends the Provisions---akin to a limited license or similar non-possessory 

	

14 	interest in land—,merely grant the lender the ability to enter, maintain, and secure 

	

15 	the encumbered property and that sucli conduct does not constitute possession in 

	

16 	violation of Washington's lien theory of nlortgages. Ms. Jordan, on the other hand, 

	

17 	contends the Entry Provisions unlawfully deprive a borrower of her exclusive right 

	

18 	to possession prior to foreclosure and that the borrower cannot agree by contract to 

	

19 	relinquish such a right prior to default. Instead, Ms. Jordan asserts that the lender 

20 
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1 	either rnust obtain post-default consent of the borrower or a court-appointed 

	

2 	receiver pursuant to RCW chapter 7.60. 

	

3 	Because of the complexity ofthe state law issues presented in the parties' 

	

4 	cross-motions for partial summary judgment and their significant policy 

	

5 	implications, this Court finds that the Washingtan Supreme Court, which has not 

	

6 	had occasion to settle these issues, "is better qualified to answer the certified 

	

7 	questions in the first instance." See Pere..--F'arias, 668 F.3d at 593 (alteration 

8 omitted). Further, this Court finds the Washington Supreme Court's answers are 

9"necessary ... in order to dispose of [thi-$j~Troceeding." RCW 2.60.020. 

	

10 	 STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

	

11 	The undisputed material facts are as follows: 

	

12 	In 2007, Ms. Jordan bought a liome in Wenatchee, Washington, and, like 

	

13 	other class mernbers, secured lier llome loan by signing a deed oftrust. ECF No. 

	

14 	3-5 at 54-69. Homecomings 1=inancial was the original lender named in the deed 

	

15 	of trust, id. at 54; however, it subsequently assigned the loan to Fannie Mae, ECF 

	

16 	Nos. 46 11 11; 59 ¶ 2. The deed of trust contains the following provision, which 

17 

18 

19 

20 
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permits the lenderZ to enter, maintain, and secure the property after the borrower's 

I default or abandonment: 

9. 	Protection of Lender's Interest in the Property and 
Rights Under this Security Instrument. If(a) Borrower fails to 
perform the covenants and agreements contained in this Security 
Instrument, (b) there is a legal proceeding that might significantly 
affect Lender's interest in the Property andlor rights under this 
Security Instrument (sucli as a proceeding in bankruptcy, probate, for 
condemnation or forfeiture, for enforcement of a lien which may 
attain priority over this Security Instrument or to enforce laws or 
regulations), or (c) Borrower has abandoned the Property, then Lender 
may do and pay for wliatever is reasonable or appropriate to protect 
Lender's interest in the Pi•operty and rights under this Security 
Instrument, including protecting an&or assessing the value of the 
Property, and securing and~ar repairing the Property. Lender's actions 
can include, but are not limited to: (a) paying any sums secured by a 
lien which has priority over this Security Instrument; (b) appearing in 
court; and (c) paying reasonable attorneys' fees to protect its interest 
in the Property andlor rights under this Security Instrument, including 
its secured position in a bankruptcy proceeding. Securing the Property 
includes, but is not limited to; entering the Property to make repairs, 
cliange locks, replace or board up doors and windows, drain water 
from pipes, eliminate building or other code violations or dangerous 
conditions, and have utilities turned on or off. Although Lender may 
take action under this Section 9, Lender does not have to do so and is 
not under any duty or obligation to do so. It is agreed that Lender 
incurs no liability for not taking any or all actions authorized under 
this Section 9. 

'` Pursuant to the terms of the deed of trust, "[t]he covenants and agreements of 

[t]he Security Instrument shall bind ... and benefit the successors and assigns of 

Lender." ECF No. 3-5 at 63. 
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ECF No. 3-5 at 61. The deed of trust contains another provision discussing the 

I borrower's obligation to preserve, niaintain, and protect the property. Jcl, at 60. 

~ This provision allows the lender "or its agent [to] make reasonable entries upon 

I and inspections of the property" but only if the lender has reasonable cause and 

first gives the borrower notice. Id. These twro provisions comprise the so-called 

"Entry Provisions." 

Ms. Jordan made her last loan payment in December 2010 and subsequently 

I went into default. ECF No. 3-3 17. In March 2011, Nationstar.r~whom Fannie 

Mae had hired to service the loan in 2008, Q.` !~;-3~="hired a vendor to perform an 1. 

exterior inspection ofMs. Jordan's property and the vendor preliminarily 

determined that it was vacant.3 ECC Nos. 3-5 at 46, 48; 3-8 110 {citing ECF No. 

3-8 at 6-8}. Nationstar then ordered entry of Ms. Jordan's property. ECF No. 3-8 

IS 11-12. The vendor changed the lock on the front door and posted the following 

notice: 

NOTICE[:] THIS PROPERTY WAS FOUND TO BE UNSECURE 
OR VACANT. In protection of the interest of the owner as well as 
the mortgagee, and in accordance with the terms of this mortgage, the 
property has been secui-ed against entry by unauthorized persons to 
prevent possible damage. The key will be available to the owner of 
the property or their representative only. 

I 3 Tlie parties dispute whether Ms. Jordan liad actually abandoned or otherwise 

vacat'ed her home when Nationstar ordered entry. ECF Nos. 62 ¶ 12; 67 at 3. 
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ECF No. 63-1 at 6, 9. The Notice also provided Ms. Jordan a name and telephone 

number to contact "for further information." Id. 

Ms. Jordan subsequently called the number, obtained the key, and re-entered 

her lhome. ECF No. 3-5 at 11-14. Ms. Jordan removed her possessions from the 

hor-ne the next day, returned the key to the lock box, and vacated the property. Id. 

at 15, 20. Nationstar's vendors have since winterized the property and maintained 

its lawn. ECF No. 3-8 118. 

On April 3, 2012, Ms. Jordan filed her Complaint in Chelan County 

Superior Court against Nationstar Mortgage, LLC, alleging numerous state law 

causes of action, including trespass, breach of contract, violation of the 

Washington Consumer Protection Act, as well as violation of the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"). ' ECF No. 2-4. Nationstar subsequently 
~.. 

removed the case to this Court: ~~~= ECF No. 1. 

" Ms. Jordan subsequently filed a First and Second Amended Complaint alleging 

these same claims and seeking class action relief. ECF Nos. 2-13; 2-19. 

5 On September 9, 2014, this Court remanded proceedings to the Chelan County 

Superior Court, finding that Nationstar's removal was untimely. ECF No. 18. On 

April 1, 2015, the Ninth Circuit reversed and remanded this decision in light of a 
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1 	The parties then filed cross motions for partial summary judgment on two 

2 similar, but distinguishabte, legal issues.`' Nationstar's motion asked the Court to 

	

3 	hold as a matter of law that the so-called Entry Provisions within the deed of trust 

	

4 	are enforceable under Wasllington law. ECF No. 45 at 8-9. Ms. Jordan's motion, 

	

5 	on the other hand, asked the Court to hold as a matter of law that, before the lender 

	

6 	can lawfully act upon the Entry Provisions, the lender is first required to obtain the 

	

7 	borrower's post-default consent or permission from a court. ECF No. 61 at 3:~ 

	

8 	 QUESTIONS OF LAW 

	

9 	"[The Washington Supreme Court does] not consider the legal issues in the 

	

10 	abstract but instead consider[s] them based on the certified record that the federal 

	

11 	court provides." Brcrdbtu-rn v. N. Cent. Reg'! Libi-nry Dist., 168 Wash. 2d 789, 799 

, 	... . 

	

12 	recent Supreme Court ruling instructing courts to interpret the provisions of the 

	

13 	Class Action Faimess Act broadly in favor of removal. ECF No. 39. 

	

14 	6 Whether Nationstar's vendors actual activities exceeded the scope of the lender's 

	

15 	permission, relevant for Plaintiff s trespass claims, is a question of fact not yet 

16 before the Court. 

	

17 	' Nationstar also moved for summary judgment on Ms. Jordan's individuai Fair 

18 Debt Coilection Practices Act ("FDCPA") claim. ECF No. 45 atrc23-24. Ms. 

19 	Jordan conceded that summary judgment should be entered on this claim. ECF 

20 No. 57 at 19. This Court dismissed this claim in a separate order. 
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1 	(20i0). "Once the court has decided to rule on a certified question pursuant to 

2 RCW 2.60.020, the ruling is not advisory but resolves actual issues pending in the 

	

3 	federal proceeding and will be legal precedent in all future controversies involving 

	

4 	the same legal question." G)•a).v:v. Stcttel! cl'c Assacs., 181 Wash. 2d 329, 337 

5 (2014). 

	

6 	The Court certifies the following questions of law: 

	

7 	( l) Under Washington's lien theory of mortgages and RCW 7.28.230(1), 
can a borrower and lender enter into a contractual agreement prior to 

	

8 	default that allows the lender to enter, maintain, and secure the 
encumbered property prior to foreclo~surc? 

9 
(2) Does RCW chapter 7.%; Washington's statutory reeeivership scheme, 

	

10 	provide the exclusive remedy, absent post-default consent by the 
borrower, for a lender to gain access to an encumbered property prior to 

	

11 	 foreclosure? 

	

12 	This Court's framing ol'the questions is not intended to restrict the 

	

13 	Washington Supreme Court's consideration of any issues it determines are 

	

14 	relevant. See Ke}:storae, 353 F.3d at 1098. This Court further acknowledges that 

	

15 	the Wasliington Supreme Court may, in its discretion, reformulate the questions if 

	

16 	it decides to answer these certified:c~uestions. Pere_-Farias, 668 F.3d at 589. 

17 ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED: 

	

18 	1. "1'his Court CERTIFIES the above questions of law. 

	

19 	2. Further proceedings in this Court are STAYED pending the Washington 

20 
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I Supreme Court's decision whether it will accept review, and if so, the proceedings 

I will remain stayed pending receipt of the answers to the certified questions. 

3. If the Washington Suprerne Court accepts review ofthe certified 

I questions, this Court designates Ms. Jordan and others similarly situated to file the 

I first brief. See Wash. R. App. P. 16.16(e)(1). 

4. If the Washington Supreme Court accepts review of the certified 

I questions, the parties shall file a joint status report every six months from the date 

of the acceptance, or more frequently if the circumstances so warrant. 

5. The District Court Executive is direeted to submit to the Washington 

I Supreme Court certified copies ofthis Order, the docket in the above-captioned 

matter, and Docket Numbers 3-3, 3-5, 3-8, 45, 46, 47, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 66, 

67, 68, and 69. The record so compiled contains all matters in the pending cause 

of action material for consideration of the certif ed questions. See RCW 

2.60.010(4). 

6. The District Court Executive is further directed to enter this Order and 

II Provide copies to counsel. 

DATED August 10, 2015 

;`F Yh~~ r{ ;~ ~--~' 	
r YV L~,,,,~" f/ ~• 	

. 

THOMAS O. RICE 
United States District Judge 
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RONALD R. CARPENTER 
SUPREME COURT CIERK 

SUSAN L. CARLSON 
DEPUTY CLEiiK! ChiIEF STAFF ATTORNEY 

THE SUPREME COURT 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

~u~ 

t 

TEMPLE OF JUSTICE 
P.O. BOX 40929 

OLYMPIA, WA98504-0929 

(360) 357-2077 
e-mai1: supreme®courts.wa.gov  

www.courts.wa,gov 

August 18, 2015 

LLT'I'P12 SE.NT 13Y C-MAIL 

Beau C. Haynes 
Law Ol'fice of David N. Mark 
810 3rd Avenue, Suite 500 
Seattle, WA 98104-1619 

Clay M. Gatens 
Michelle A Green 
JDSA 
2600 Chester Kimm Rd 
Wenatchee, WA 98801-8116 

Michael Duane Daudt 
Daudt Law PLLC 
200 W Thomas Street, Suite 420; 
Seattle, WA 98119 

John Alan Knox 
William Kastner & Gibbs, I'LLC 
601 Union Street, Suite 4100 
Seattle, WA 98101-1368 

Atsdrew W. Noble 
Jan T. Ch€lton 
Mary Kate Sullivan 
Severson & Werson, APC 
One Embarcadero Center, Suite 2600 
San F'rancisco, CA 94111 

I-lon. Jaines R. Larsen, Clerk (sent by U.S. mail only) 
U.S. DisU~ict Court 
Eastern District of Washington 
P.O. Box 1493 
Spokane, WA 99210 

Re: 	Supreme Court No. 92081-8 - Laura Gamora Jordan v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 
U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Washington, No, 2:14-CV-0175-TOR 

Clerlc and Counsel: 

The "ORDER CERTiFYING QUES'i'IONS TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT" 
entered by the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington on August 10, 
2015, was received and filed on August 17, 2015. The certified record was also filed on this 
date. The matter has been assigned the abovc referenced Supreme Court cause number. 

Pursuant to RCW 2.60.030 and RAP 16.16(e), briefs are due in accordance with the 
following schedule: 

1. 	Tlie Plaintiff's opening brief should be served and filed by not later than 
September 16, 2015; 

(D 	 0 
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2. The Defendant's answcring bricf should bc served and filed within 20 days after 
service of the Plaintiff's opening brief; and 

3. The Plaintiff s reply brief should be served and filed within 10 days affter service 
of the Defendant's answering brief. 

Briefs should be in the form provided by RAP 10.3 and RAP 10.4, and should be served 
and filed in accordance with RAP 10.2{h}, 

Counsel arc advised that future correspondence from this Court regarding this 
matter will most likely°only be scnt by an e-mail attach€nent, not by regular mail. This 
offiee uses the e-mail address thiit appears on the Washington State Bar Association lawyer 
directory. Counscl are responsible for maintaining a current business-related e-mail 
address in that dircctory. Any out-of-stzte counsel should advise this Court of their e-mail 
address and keep this office informed ofany chAnges. 

Sincerely, 

Susan L. Carlson 
Supreme Court Deputy Clerk 

SLC; wg 

ec: Narda Pierce, Court Commissioner 

~, 
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Supreme Cour~~Cde~ilc 

INTHE SUPREIVIE COUR.T OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

CERTITYCA'I'ION FROM TI:IE UNITED ) 
STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR'1W,- ) 
EASTERN DIS'IRICT OF WASHINGTONr } 

TN 	 } 
) 

LAU12A ZAMORA JORDAN, as her 	) 
separate estate, and on behali of others 	) 
sirnilarly situated, 	 } 

) 
Plaintiff, 	 ) 

) 
V. 	 ) 

) 
NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, I.,LC, 	} 
a Delaware limited liability company, 	) 

} 
Defendant. 	 ) 

) 

No. 92081-8 

En Banc 

Filed 	JUL 0 7 2016.   

OWENS, J. — After defaulting on her home mortgage payment, plaintiff 

Laura 7ordan returned home from work one evening to discover she could not enter 

her own house: the locks had been changed without warning. A notice informed her 

that in order to gain access to her home, she must call defendant Nationstar Mortgage 

LLC to obtain the lockbox code and retrieve the new key inside. Although she 
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eventually rcentered her home, she removed her belongings the next day and has not 

returned since. Jordan's home loan was secured by a deed of trust, a commonly used 

security instrument that was created as an alternative to traditional mortgages to 

provide for a simpler method offoreclosure. Tfie deed of trust eontained provisions 

that allowed Nationstar to enter her home upon default without providing any notice 

to the llomeowner. Today, we are asked to decide whether those provisions conflict 

with Washington law. 

Jordan represents a class action proceeding in federal court, which has certified 

two questions to us. 'Ihe first question asks whether the deed of trust provisions 

conflict with a Washington law that prohibits a lender firom taking possession of 

property prior to foreclosure. 't7Ve hold that it does because the provisions allow 

Nationstar to take possession ofthe property after default, which conflicts with the 

statute. The second question asks whether Washington's statutory receivership 

scheme--providing for a third party to possess and manage property in lieu of either 

the lender or homeowner—is the exclusive remedy by which a lender may gain access 

to the property. As explained below, we hold nothing in our law establishes the 

receivership statutes as an exclusive remedy. 

FACTS 

In 2007, Jordan bought a home in Wenatchee, Washington, with a home loan of 

$172,000 from I=lomecomings Financial. She secured the ioan by signing a deed of 

;~~_ 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Joi-dan v. Nationstar Morlgage, LL'C'. 
No. 92081-8 

trust. The original lender assigned the loan to the Federal National Mortgage 

Association (Fannie Mae), one of the nation's largest mortgagees that primarily 

participates ui the secondary mortgage market, which hired Nationstar to service the 

loan. 

Jordan went into default;on her mortgage payments in January 2011, In March 

2011, one of Nationstar's vendors came to Jordan's home and changed the locks on 

her front door. Jordan returned home to find a notice on the front door informing her 

that the property was found to be "unsecure or vacant" and that to protect her and the 

mortgagee's interest in the propert}r, it was "secured against entry by unauthorized 

persons to prevent possible daanage." Order Certifying Qucstions to Wash. Supreme 

Ct., ,lordan v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, No. 2:14-CV-0175-T4R at 6(E.D. Wash. 

Aug. 10, 2015). While the above-noted facts are undisputed, the parties dispute 

whether the home was vacant. Jordan contends she was living there, le$ for work that 

morning as usual, and returned to 6nd the lockbox and notice. On the other hand, 

Nationstar contends that its vendor perforrned an inspeetion of the property and 

determined it was vaca.nt. 

Upon finding the notice when she returned home, Jordan called the phone 

number provided and got the key from the lockbox to reenter her home. She took all 

of her belongings and vacated the house the next day. Since then, Nationstar's vendor 

has maintained the property's exterior and winterized the interior. Nationstar does not 

,~a. 
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claim to have attempted to provide Jordan any notice of its intention to inspect the 

property and rekey it. Nationstar contends that its usual practice is to change the locks 

on only one door, such that it can access the home in the future, but also so that the 

owner can still enter the home through another door. I3ere, Jordan's home had only a 

front door and a sliding glass door in the rear of the home. Therefore, when 

Nationstar's vendor rekeyed the front door, she had no means of entry. 

Jordan represents a certified class of 3,600 Washington homeowners who were 

locked flut of their homes pursuant to similar provisions in their deeds of trust with 

Nationstar. This case presents an important issue for these homeowners and the 

thousands of others subjcct to similar provisions, as well as the many mortgage 

companies that have a concern with preserving and protecting the properties in which 

they have an interest. Three amicus bricfs wcre filed in this case; Federal Homc Loan 

1Vlortgage Corporation (Freddie 1Viac) and the city of Spokane supporting defendant 

Nationstar, and the Noi-thwest Consumer Law Center supporting plaintiff Jordan. 

Freddie Mac tells us that the provisions such as the ones at issue here are important to 

the foreclosure process because they allow lenders to enter the property to maintain 

and secure it. It contends that such provisions help meet Freddie Mac's requirements 

it inaposes on companies like Nationstar to preserve properties. 

In Apri12012, Jordan f led a complaint against Nationstar in Chelan County 

Superior Court, alleging state law claims that include trespass, breach of contract, and 

: 
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violations of the Washington Consumer Protection Act and the Fair Debt Collection 

Prractices Act, Ch. 19.86 RCW,;15 U.S.C. §§ 1692-1692p. Chelan County Superior 

Court certified the class action, with Jordan as the representative for the 3,600 

similm•ly situated homeowners:: Nationstar removed the action to the United States 

District Court for the Eastern Diatrict of `VG'ashington {District Court}. The parties 

each filed motions for partizl summary judgment. Nationstar asked the District Court 

to find the provisions at issue enforceable under Washington law. Jordan asked the 

District Court to find that before the lender can enter a borrower's property, the lender 

must obtaui cither the borrower's postdefaujt consent or permission from a court. 

Furthercnore, .lordan contends:tliat receivership is the only remedy by which a lender 

may gain access to the borrower's property. Finding that the case raised unresolved 

nuestions of Washington state law, the District Court certified two questions to us. 

We accepted the foUowing certified questions. 

CERTIFTED QUESTIONS 

1. Utider Washinoton's lien theory ofmortgagcs and RCW 7.28.230(1), can 

a borrower and lender enter into a contractual agreement prior to default that allows the 

lender to entcr, maintain, aiid secure the encumbered property prior to foreclosure? 

2. Does chapter 7.60 RCW, Washington's statutory receivership scheme, 

provide the exclusive remedy, absent postdefault consent by the borrower, for a lender 

to gain access to an encumbcred property prior to foreclosure? 

5: 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Jordan v. Nationstar Mortgage,.Ld~ 
No. 92081-8 

ANALYSIS 

Certifced questions present questions of law and we review them de novo. See, 

e.g., Parents Involved in Ont}a;;Sch. v. Seattle Sch. Dt'st., No. 1, 149 Wn.2d 660, 670, 

72 P.3d 151 (2003). 

1. Washfngton's Lien Theory and WW,7:28.2300) Prevent a Borrower and a 
Lender fi-om Contractiyig To A11ow ttie Lender To Take Possession Based on 
Borrower llefault 

The District Court aslcs us to determine whether a predefault clause in a deed of 

trust that allows a lender to enter, maintain, and secure the property before foreclosure 

is enforceable: We must deterrb- ine whether these provisions contravene Washington 

law. As described below, che deed of trust provisioni authorize a lender to enter the 

borrower's property after default. The pardes agree that a Washington statute 

prohibits a lender from taking possession of a borrower's property prior to 

foreclosure. The controversial issue here is whether the deed of trust provisions 

allowing the lender to enter constitule taking possession prior to foreclosure, such that 

they conflict witli state law. Tiased on Nationstar's practices, we find that the 

provisions do allow the lender to talce possession and thus they are in conflict with 

state law. As such, we answer the first certified question in the negative. 

a. 	The Deed of Trust Provisions Allow a Lender To >3nter the Bor•rower's 
Property upon Default or Abandonment 

"[I]t is the general rule that a contract which is contrary to the terms and policy 

of an express legislative enactment is illegal and unenforcible [sic]" State v. Nw. 

[~ 
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Magnesite Co., 28 Wn.2d l, 26, 182 P.2d 643 (1947). While we recognize an 

overarching freedom to contract, provisions are unenforceable where tliey are 

prohibited by statute. State l*arm Gen. Ins. Co. v. Emerson, 102 Wn.2d 477, 481, 687 

P.2d 1139 (1984). 

The provisions at issue are made up of two sections in the deed of trust. The 

first provision, in pertuient part, is as follows: 

9. 	Protection of Lender's Interest in the Property and Ragl€ ts 
Under titis Security Instrument. If (a) Borrower fails to perform the 
covenants and agreenlents contained in tivs Security Instrument, ... or 
(c) Borrower has abandoned the Property, then Lender may do and pay 
for whatever is reasonable or appropriate to protect Lender's interest in 
the Property and rights under this Security Instrument, including 
protecting and/or assessing the value of the Property, and securing 
and/or repairing the Property. ... Securing the Property includes, but is 
not limited to, entering the Property to make rcpairs, change locks, 
replace or board up doors and windows, drain water from pipes, 
eliniinate building or other code violations or dangerous conditions, and 
have utilities turned on or off. Although Lender may take action under 
this Section 9, Lender does not have to do so and is not under any duty 
or obligation to do so. 

Ex. 19, at 8. The provisions also allows the lender to "make reasonable entries upon 

and inspections of the Property" where the lender has reasonable cause and gives the 

borrower notice. Id. at 7. It atso requires the borrower to maintain and protect the 

property. Id. 

Together, these sections are the so-called "entry provisions" that are at issue in 

this case, which allow the lender to enter, maintain, and secure the property after the 

borrower's default or abandonment. Nationstar lunges its argument on the need to _ 

;~~a. 
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secure abandoned property, stating it does not enter occupied property. However, the 

provision plainly states tha('the lender may "secure" the property a$er the borrower 

defaults or abandons the property. The provision specifically lists changing the locks 

as a method oCsecuring the property. "fhus, the provisions aut.horize the lender to 

enter and relcey the property solely up default, regardless of whether the borrower 

has abandoned the property. 

As explained beiow, it'is well settled that Washington law prohibits lenders 

from taking possession of borrowers' property before foreclosure. This question turns 

on whether the above provisions authorize lenders to "take possession" and if, in fact, 

the lender's actions here constituted tak.ing possessioric 

b. iWashingion's Lien Theory Does Not Permit a Lender To Talre Possession of 
Propert}) Prior to Forecloszn•e 

Our case law is. clear that Washington law prohibits a lender from talting 

possession of property before fbreclosure of the borrower's home. Importantly, the 

parties agree on this point; under state law, a secured lender cannot gain possession of 

the encumbered property before foreclosure. 

RCW 7:28.230 provides that 

(1) 	A mortgage of any intei•est in real property shall not be deemed a 
conveyance so as to enablc the owner of the mortgage to recover possession of 
the real property, without a foreclosure and sale according to law.lt l 

' Before 1969, this section of the statute endcd after "withodt a foreclosure and sale according to 
taw." CoDs or• 1881, § 546. It was amended`in 1969 to make clear that the statute should not be 

13 
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This statute essentially codified Wasliington's lien theory of mortgages. The 

mortgage lien theory prevails in Washington, meaning that the mrtgage is seen as 

"nothing more than a lien upon the property to secure payment of the mortgage debt, 

and in no sense a conveyancc cntitling the mortgagee to possession or enjoyment of 

the property as owner." W. Locrn & Bldg. Co. v. Mifflin, 162 Wash. 33, 39, 297 P. 743 

(1931). We have interpreted RCW 7.28.230(l) to mean that a mortgagor's default 

does not disrupt the mortgagor's right to possession of real property, and that the 

mortgagor retains die right to possession until therc has been foreclosure and sale of 

the property. Howard v. Edgren, 62 Wn.2d 884, 885, 385 P.2d 41 (1963). 

The Re.statetnew (Thir•d) ofProper-ty takes the approach that mortgagee 

possession agreements conflict with lien thcory statutes. See RBSTATEMENT ('I'HtRD) 

OF PROP.: MOIt't'GAGIs § 4.1 cmt. b(AM.,LAW INST. 1-997). Several Iien theory 

jurisdictions hold that provisions that allow the lender to take possession of the 

property contravenes public policy that is inherent to the lien theory; indeed, some 

states havic evcn codificd statutcs that specifically invalidate such agreements. See, 

e.g., COLO. REV. STAT. ANN. § 38-35-117; IDAHO CQDE ANN. § 6-104; NEV. R.EV. 

STA'r. § 40.050; CJKLA, STAI'. ANN, tit. 42, § 10; UTAf=t CODE ANN. § 78B-6-1310. 

interpreted to prohibit a mortgagee from collecting rents beTc€ re foreelosure. See LAws oF 1969, 
lst Ex. Sess., ch. 122, § 1; and see Kezner v. Landover Corp., 87 Wn. App. 458, 464, 942 P.2d 
1003 (1997). However, the bedrock principle thal borrowem,have a right to possession prior to 
foreclosure was not altered by the amendment: 

9 
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Washington's legislature, however, did not specifically invalidate such contrary 

agreements in its codification of lien theoiy prohibiting the lender from taking 

possession of property before foreclosure. That the legislature did not specifically 

invalidate such contract provisions, as did other states;  does not mean the provisions 

do not conflict with our laws. Thus, we rnust determine whether its statute is in 

conflict with such an agreement. 

Nationstar concedes that the borrower's right t6: possession cannot be overcome 

by a contrary provision in the mortgage or deed of trust because such a provision 

would be unenforceable as it would contravene Washington law. Def.'s Answering 

Br. at 11. However, Nationstar argues that the entry provisions do not authorize the 

lender to take "possession" and that its specific conduct at Jordan's residence did not 

constitute possession. Therefore, the deterniinative issue in answering this first 

certified question is whether the entry provisions cause the lender to gain 

"possession." As explained below, the entry provisions do authorize conduct that 

constitutes "possession." 

c. These Entry Provisions Allow a Lender To Take 1'ossession Prior to 
. Foreclosure and Therefore Conflict with State Law 

We must determine if the entry provisions authorize the lender to take 

"possession" of the property. lf they do, thc provisions are in conflict with 

Washington law. Here, we look to the actions that Nationstar took pursuant to the 

entry provisions to see ifthey constituted "possession." Possession has slightly 
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different meanings in different areas of the law. The parties supplied definitions from 

real property law, tort law, and landlord-tenant law because it is unclear which 

deftnition is applicable to RC1~V 7.28.230(1). 

Under any def nition, the conduct allowed under the entry provisions 

constitutes possession because Nationstar's actions satisfy the lcey element of 

possession: control. In property law, "possession" is clefined as "a physical relation to 

the land ofa lcind which gives a certain degree of physical control. over t[Ze land, and 

an intent so to exercise such control as to exclude other members of society ui general. 

from any present occupation of thc land." RESTATCMENT (FIRST) OF PROT'.: 

DEr1Nt'r1ON OF CERTA]N GENERAL TERMS § 7(a) (AM. LAvv INST. 1936). 

The key element to the property definition of "possession" is the "certain 

degree of physical control." Tort law similarly requires eontrol. In tort law, which is 

concerned primarily with liability, a"possessor of land" is defined as "a person who 

occupies the land and controls it" RESTATCMEN'1~ (TI-IIItD) OF Tolt'rs: LIAI3ILITY FOR 

PFIYSfCALAND EMOTIONAL IIARM § 49 (AM..LAW INST. 2012). 

The Court of Appeals applied the tort definition of possession when it 

considered the phrase "mortgagees in possession" for pur}ioses of premises liability. 

Coleman v. Hoffman, 115 Wn. App. 853, 858-59, 64 P.3d 65 (2003). There, the 

lender used RCW 7.28.230(1) as a defense to its putative possession to avoid liability, 

arguing that it could not have bcen "in possession" because the statute forbids it. Id. 

:~:I; 
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at 863. The court relied on the above tort definition of "possession" and another 

prominent source that stated for a lender to be liable, it must "`exercise dominion and 

control over the property."' Id. at 859 (yuofiing 62 AM. JUR. 2D Premises Lrability 

§ 8, at 356 (1990)). In finding that the plaintiff showed enough facts of lender's 

possession, the court pointed to the lender's repairs and payments of utility bills. Id. 

at 862-63. 

We also find that landlord-tenant law's treatment of "possession" helpful---

particularly its analysis of the impact of changing locks._ In Aldriclz v. Dlson, the 

Court of Appeals found that when the landlord changed the locks of her tenant's 

home, it was an unlawful eviction. 12 Wn. App. 665, 672, 531 P.2d 825 (1975). The 

court reasoned, "It is difficult to visualize an act of a landlord more specifically 

intended as a reassumption of possession by the landlord and a permanent deprivation 

of the tenant's possession than a`locicout' without the tenant's lcnowiedge or 

permission." Id. at 667. 

From any approach, we find that Ndtionstar's conduct constituted possession. 

The foregoing possession definitions, as well as Colenzan and Aldrich, are instructive. 

Nationstar's vendor's actions constituted possession because its actions are 

representative of control. The vendor drilled out 3ordan's existi.ng  locics and replaced 

the lock with its own. Nationstar stated in its brief that it rekeyed Jordan's property to 

allow itself access to return to secure the property by winterizing it and to make 
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repairs. Def.'s Answering Br. at 33-34. Perhaps that is t7•ue; however, rekeying the 

property also had the effeet of communicating to Jordan that Nationstar now 

controlled the property. The action left Jordan witll no method of entering her own 

property. Nationstar relies on the fact that it did not change the locks to exclude 

Jordan (because it provided her a lockbox and phone number to call) to provide proof 

that it did not possess the premises. However, aikhough she was able to obtain a key 

by calling, the process made Nationstar the "midd[e man." She could no longer 

access her home without going through Nationstar. This_aetion of changing the locks 

and allowing her a tcey only aftcr contacting Nationstar for the lockbox code is a clear 

expression of control. Although Nationstar did not exclude Jordan from the prernises 

(as she was able to gain a key and enter), she leftthe nextday and did not return. In 

its amicus brief, the Nortliwest Consumer Law Center advised us anecdotally that 

many similarly situated Waslungtan homeowners felt that when the lender changed 

the locks to their homes, they no longer had a right to continue to possess the 

property, See Br. of Amicus Curiae Nw. Consumer Law Ctr. at 6. 

Nationstar effectively ousted Jordan by changing her locks, exercising its 

control over the property. Although the mortgagee-mortgagor context is difPerent 

fi•om the landlord-tenant context, .41drich provides an apt analogy here because the 

court there found that changing the tenant's locks was the most striking showing of a 

reassumption of possession. 12 Wn. App. at 667, Changing the locks is akin to 

l;~~ 
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exercising control, which is the [cey element of possession. By changing the locks, 

Nationstar took possession of the property. Since these actions are authorized by the 

entry provisions, the entry provisions allow the lender to take possession of the 

property. Because Washington law prohibits lenders fTom talcing possession of the 

borrower's property before foreclosure, the provisions are in conflict with state law. 

7'herefore, we must answer the first certit'iijd question in the negative and fnd that the 

entry provisions are unenforceable. 

_ 	 2. Chapter 7.60 RCW Does Not Provide the Exclusive Reinedy for a Lender To 
Gain Access to an Encumbered Property Priof• to Foreclosure 

The second certitied question asks whether this state's receivership statutes 

separately prohibit the entry provisions. Specifically, this second question asks 

whetller ehapter 7.60 RCW, which provides for the judicial appointment of a third 

party receiver to manage the property, is tlie exclusive method by which lenders can 

gain access to encumbered property prior to foreclosure. 

This is an issue of first impression in this court, and no Washington appellate 

decision is on point. We rnust answer this question in the negative because nothing 

indicates that the statutory receivership schcrne provides the exclusive remedy for 

lenders to access a property. 

a. Back:ground on Itecei>>ership and Its Role in Mortgage Foreclosure 

Chapter 7.60 RCW governs Washirtgton's receivership scheme. A"receiver" 

is a third party appointed by a court to take charge of property and manage it as the 

~::~' 
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court directs. 18 WILLiAM 13. STpEBUCIC & JOI-3N W. WEAVER; Vi1ASHINGTON 

PRA.CTtCE: REAL ESTATE: TRANSACTIoItiS, § 18.6, at 310 (2d ed. 2004). The statutes 

enumerate some 40 circumstances under which a receiver may be appointed. Only a 

few concern mortgaged real property. Sec ItCW 7.60.025(l)(b), (g), (cc), (dd). 

Although authorized by statute, lenders are not entitlerl to a receiver, even where a 

clause in the mortgage provides for the appointment of a receiver. STOEIIUCIC & 

WEAVER, supra, § 18.6; at 312. While statutory grounds exist for a court-appointed 

-- 	receiver prior to foreclosure, it is rarely sought. Id. at 314. - 

In the context of niortgaged real property, a receiver might be appointed as a 

, 
"custodial recciver," who would take possession of the property and preserve it. 

RCW 7.60.015; 7.60.025(1)(g). Commonly, receivers are appointed to collect rent 

from income-producing property. SI'DEL3UCK & WEAVER, supra, § 18.6, at 3 10-1 l; 

see RCW 7.28.230(1) (providing grounds for appointing a rcceiver to collect rent for 

application to mortgage). Importantly, nothing in the text of RCW 7.28.230(1) or 

chapter 7.60 RCW requires the appointment of a reeeiver in this context. 

Jordan argues that the entry provisions are Nationstar's attempt to contract 

around chapter 7.60 RCW's requirements and that the legislature intended for the 

statutes to provide lenders an exclusive remedy. However, as explained below, 

Jordan's arguments fail to establish that chapter 7.60 RCW does so. 

-~~ 
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b. 	The Contract Provisions Do Not Conflict with Chapter 7.60 RCW 

We have held that the deed of trust act in chapter 61.24 RCW cannot be 

contracted around in two recent cases where parties attempted to modify the deed of 

trust act's requirements by private contract. See 13ain v. .Nletro. Mortg. Grp., Ine., 175 

Wn.2d $3, 107, 2$5 P.3d 34 (2012) (holding that parties cannot contract to fit a 

statutory definition to fielrll the act's requirements); Schroeder v. ExcelsiorMgmt. 

Grp., LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94, 107, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) (holding that parties cannot 

contractually waive a requirernent under the act that agricultural properties may only 

be foreclosed judicially). 

Jordan argues that like in Bain and Schroeder, the entry provisions attempt to 

"bypass" statutes that dictate a lender's only entry method. Pl.'s Opening Br. at 25. 

However, Jordan misconstrues the receivership statutes as providing a"list of 

requisites to a lender gaining access to a borrower's property." Id. at 28. While the 

statutes enumerate receivership requirements, they are not concerned with a lender's 

access to borrower's property but rather merely set forth requirements shottld a 

receiver be necessary. Thus, the entry provisions do nat a.ttempt to circumvent the 

receivership statutes and thus do not conflict with chapter 7.50 RCW. Similarly, 

Jordan's other arguments do not support her contention that the receivership statutes 

provide lendcrs an exclusive re.medy to access property. In fact,,  as explained below, 
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the text of the statute and policy considerations support a f nding that chapter 7.60 

RCW does not provide lenders the exc[usive remedy. 

c. 	The Statute 's Text Supports Finding That It 13oes Not Provide an 
Exclusive Remedy 

The text of the statute supports a finding that it does not provide the exclusive 

remedy. First, the plain Ianguage of the statute must be examined to determ.ine 

exclusivity. We llave hetd that when engaging in statutory interpretation, our 

"fundamentat objective is to ascertain and carry out the LegisIature's intent, and if the 

statute's meaning is plain on its face, then the court must give effect to that plain 

meaning as an expression of legislative intent." Dep't qf Ecology v. Carnpbell c.lt 

Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3 d 4(2002). 

tJf course, an exclusivity clause would be the clearest indication of the 

legislature's intent that the statute be exclusive, but as Jordan concedes, this statute 

does not have one, IIowever, Jordan argues that because the statutory scheme is 

"comprehensive," the legislature intended for the statute to provide the exclusive 

remedy for lenders such that they cannot contract for entry otherwise. See generally 

Pl. Opening Br. at 24-37; and see Lnws oF 2004, ch. 165, § 1. It is true that the 

receivership statutory scheme is comprehensive, but the plain language of the statute 

does not suggest that chapter 7.60 RCW was intended to be an exclusive remedy. 

If a court werc to appoint a receiver in this contcxt, ifiwould likely be pursuant 

to RCW 7.60.025(l ). Thus, we analyze the question of whether the receivership 

17 
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provides lenders the exclusive remedy under that portion of the provision. The statute 

provides, in part: 

A receiver rnay be appointed by the superior court of this state in the following 
instances, but except in any case ... in which a receiver's appointment with 
respect to real property is sought under (b)(ii) of this subsection, a receiver 
shall be appointed only f the court additionally determines that the 
appointment of a receiver is reasonably necessary and that othef- avctilahle 
remedies either are not available or are inadequate. 

RCW 7.60.025(1) (emphasis added). Sttbsection (b)(ii) provides that a receiver may 

be appointed afier the cornmencement ofa foreclosure proceeding on a lien,against 

i•eal property where the appointment is provided for by agreement or is necessary to 

collect rent or profits from the property. 

In analyzing this text, we look to its plain language. In general, the court's 

discretion is illustrated by the word "may." Under subsection (b)(ii), a receiver shall 

be appointed, but only if the court malces additional findings. First the court must find 

a receiver is "reasonably necessary." RCW 7.60.025(1)(b)(ii). Second, and more 

intportantly, the court determines that "other cn,crilable remedies either are not 

available or are inadecluate." RCW 7.60.025(1) (emphasis added). 

Courts consider all of the f4cts and circumstances to determine whether to 

appoint a receiver. tlnion Boam Co. v. Scnnish Booni Co., 33 Wash. 144, 152, 74 P. 

53 (1903). "It is well established that a receiver should notFbe appointed if there is 

any other adequate remedy." King Coatnty Dep't qf Cmty. cYr Human Servs. v. Nw. 

De~'s. Ass'n, 118 Wn. App. 117, 126, 75 P.3d 583 (2003) (citing Bergman Clay Mfg. 

18 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Jordan v. Natfonstar Mortgage, LLC 
No. 92081-8 

Co. v. $ergmaiz, 73 Wash. 144, 147, 131 P. 485 (1913)). The Court of Appeals 

reasoned that allowing a current board of directors to oversee a corporation "was not 

an adequate rernedy" and, thus, found that appointment of a receiver was appropriate. 

Id, at 126. 

Thus, in general, other remedies exist outside of appointing a receiver. It is not 

before us to determine wliat particular remedies are available. To answer this 

question,_ it is sufficient that the plain Ianguage of the provision does not indicate that 

chapter 7.60 RCW was meant to provide an exclusive remedy to ienders. Finally, 

public policy also supports the finding that the statute is not the exclusive remedy, 

which we discuss below. 

d. Public Policy Supports Finding 7'hat Chapter 7.60 RCLYDoes Idot Provide 
an Exclusive Remedy 

To the extent that chapter 7.60 RCW's language is not explieit, it is worth 

noting a relevant policy consideration. One ofthe advantages of a deed of trust is that 

it ol:Ters "`efficieiit and inexpensive"' nonjudicial foreclosure. Scliroeder, 177 Wn.2d 

at 104 (quoting Cox v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985)). Thus, 

requiring lenders to wade througlt the judicial receivership process in all cases----,  

regardless of the facts and circumstances—is illogical. Overall, both policy and the 

plain text ofthe statute support finding that it does not provide an exclusive remedy to 

lenders. Thus, we must answer this question in the negative. 

'09; 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Jordan v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 
No, 92081-8 

CONCLUSION 

We answer the first certified question in the negative. Wasbington law 

prohibits lenders fiom talcing possession of property prior to foreclosure. These entry 

provisions enable the lender to talce possession after default, and the lender's action 

here constitutes talc.ing possession. Therefore, the entry provisions are in direct 

conflict with state law and are unenforceabte. 

As to the second question, we also answer it in the negative. The text of the 

receivership statutes, the legislative intenf'behind them, and public policy 

considerations compel us to find that chapter 7.60 RCW is not the exclusive remedy 

for lenders to gaui access to a borrower's property. 

L'i 
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WE CONCLTR: 

-~~ 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Jordan v. Nationstar Mortgage, ZLC 

No. 92081-8 

STEPH1rNS, J. (dissenting)-~=i respectfully dissent because the majority 

erroneously equates the entry provisions at issue with actual possession. Months 

after Laura Jordan defaulted on her loan, Nationstar Mortgage LLC inspected 

Jordan's property and determined that it was vacant. Pursuant to the deed of trust's 

entry provisions, Nationstar secured the liome by changing the lock to the front door 

and posted instructions on how Jordan could enter the home if she retumed. This 

practice is not'inconsistent with Washington's lien theory of mortgages and RCW 

7.28.230(1). Accordingly, the fzrst cerrified question slhould be answered in the 

affirmative. 

"Washington courts have hesitated to `invoke publie policy to limit or avoid 

express contract terms absent legislative action. "' Brown v. Snohomish County 

Bhysicians Corp., 120 Wn.2d 747, 753, 845 P.2d 334 (1993) (quoting State Farm 
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Gen. Ins. Co. v. Einerson, 142 Wn.2d 477, 481, 687 P.2d 1139 (1984)). It is 

undisputed that the deed of trust's entry provisions were contractually agreed to and 

authorized Nationstar to change the locks on Jordan's home after default. A.nd as 

the majority eorrectly notes, Washington's legislature has not "speeifically 

invalidate[d] such contraiy agreements in its codification of lien theory prohibiting 

the lender from taking possession of property before foreclosure." Maj ority at 10. 

The majority nevertheless finds the entry provisions contravene Washington's 

rule against lenders taking preforeclosure possession of borrowers' property. The 

majority does so by describing the entry provisions as authorizing the lender to take 

"Possession." Id. at 8, 12. But the certified question asks not whether lenders can 

takc "possession" of property before foreclosure. Gnstead, it asks whether the lender 

can "enter, maintain, and secure the encumbered property" before foreclosure. 

Order Certifying Questions to Wash. Supreme Court, Jordan v. Nationstar Mortg., 

LLC, No. 2:14-CV-0175-TOR at 9(E. Wash. Aug. 10, 2015). Absent legislation 

stating otherwise, the entry provisions at issue are not inconsistent with 

Washington's lien theory of mortgages and RCW 7.28.234(1). 

The majority cites inapposite authority to equate the entry provisions with 

actual possession. At the outset, the majority's reliance on the Restatement is 

misplaced. RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROP: MORTGAGES § 4.1 (AM. LAW. INST. 
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1997). The Restatement does not contemplate entry provisions, like those considered 

here, but rather a lender taldng possession. The Restatement merely reiterates the 

general rule against accelerated preforeclosure possession of property. In illustrative 

applications of this rule, the Restatement exainines instanees where the mortgagee 

has "file[d] an action to obtain possession of [the property]." REsTATEMENT § 4.1 

cnat. b, illus. 1-3. Here, however, Nationstar has not filed an action to obtain 

possession of Jordan's property. Instead, after Jordan defaulted on her loan, 

Nationstar toolc contractually authorized steps to secure the abandoned property"— 

and it posted instructions on how Jordan could access the property, consistent with 

her continued right of possession. 

Neithcr of the two Court of Appeals decisions cited by the majority support 

equating the entry provisians to possession. Aldrich v. Olson does not even interpret 

"possession" in RCW 7.28.230(1). 12 Wn. App. 665, 531 P.2d 825 (1975). And 

Colernan v. Hoffmajt merely clarifies the difference between the right to possession 

(applicable to foreclosure actions) and actual possession (applicable to premises 

liability matters): "Although R.0 W 7.28.230 effectively precludes a mortgagee from 

obtaining possession of property to the mortgagor's exclusion, the statute does nof 

bear on the question of whether a mortgagee actually possess the property. Actual 

possession, not a right to possession, 'ts the critical inquiry in premises liability 

Case 2:17-cv-00093-SMJ    Document 1-2    Filed 03/13/17



Jordan v. NationstarMortgage, LLC, 92081-8 (Stephens, J. Dissenting) 

cases." 115 Wn. App. 853, 863-64, 64 P.2d 65 (2003). But unlike the landlords in 

Aldrich and Coleman, Nationstar never possessed the property to Jordan's exclusion. 

Rather, Nationstar provided Jordan with instructions on how to enter her home if she 

returned. At no point did Natioiistar ever object to Jordan's continued right to 

possession before foreclosure. 

Finally, even if we regarded the entry provisions as interfering with Jordan's 

right to possession, Nationstar was nevertheless justified in securing Jordan's 

abandoned property. The Restateinent recognizes three exceptions to the general 

rule that mortgagees cannot obtain possession of the mortgagor's property before 

foreclosure: (1) morlgagor consent, (2) mortgagee's possession as the result of 

peaceful entry in good faith a#ler purchasing the property at a void or voidable 

foreclosure sale, and (3) mortgagor abandonment. RBSTA'rEtvLIl+rr § 4.1 cmt. c. Here, 

the evidence supported Nationstar securing Jordan's home under the mortgagor 

abandonment exception. Months after Jordan defaulted on her loan, Nationstar 

inspected Jordan's property and determined tliat it was vacant. Nationstar then 

changed the locks, which it was allowed to do under the entry provisions in order to 

secuxe the property. Cf. PNC 13ank;NA v. van Hoornaar, 44 F. Supp. 3d 846, 856-

57 (E.D. Wis. 2014) (dismissing trespass clairn against lender for changing a 

homeowner's locks upon default because the mortgage agreemeat authorizing the 
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lender to secure the premises upon default or abandonment created an implied 

consent to entry); see also Tennant v. Chase Home Fin., LLC, 187 So. 3d 1172, 

1181-82 (Ala. Civ. App. 2015). Moreover, public policy eonsiderations support 

Nationstar securing Jordan's abandonedproperty: "Not only is it important to protect 

the [property] against the elements and vandalism, but society is benefited by [the 

property's] productive usc." REsTA'i'EmENr § 4.1 cmt. c. 

Pursuant to entry agreements like the one mutually agreed on by Nationstar 

and Jordan; a lender may "enter, maintain, and secure" see.mingly abandoned 

properly before foreclosure without taking "possession" of it. Because the fiirst 

certified question should be answered in the al'frmative, I disseIIt. 

.:~ 
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14661052 

REQUIREMENTS FOR VALID SERVICE: 

Location 

A latitudetlongitude rneasurement is required. 

Latitudeliongitude reported must match expected location. 

Manner Of Service 

Do not post. 

Identity must be confirmed if served personal/substitute. 

Photo 
At least one photograph must be taken of the address with 
every attempt, including house number. Please also capture 
any vehicle tags or important features that could help 
confirm service. 

Timing 

Report event within 15 minutes. 

SERVE: 

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATiONAL 
ASSOCIATION c/o CORPORATION SERVICE 
COMPANY 

AT ADDRESS: 

300 DESCHUTES WAY SW SUITE 304 
TUMWATER, WA 98501 

ALL ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS: 

SUMMONS; COMPLAINT FOR CLASS ACTION AND 
DAMAGES 

faART.._- 

Scott Gogan 
9132 THF.A ROSE AVE SE, YELM, VVA 98597 
360-742-2809 

C!.1&T'; i A '= R 

Jeffers, Danielson - Wenatchee 
cu:;r(.,.. rt r..... 

201 fi-0395-0001 C 
ccA, _ . 

WA Superior of Stevens Co 
,:AS.u: r4t.4vIler.a 

C:&c.c -`:T'..E 
VALERIE RHODES, A SINGLE WOMAN, AND ON 
BEHALF OF OTHERS S... vs. WELLS FARGO BANK, 
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, A NATIONAL BANKIN... 

SIGNATURE OF RECIPiENT: 

Q 

By signing my name, I merely acknowledge that I am in 
physical receipt of the documents referenced above and my 
signature shall NOT be deemed an admission of any of the 
accusations contained in the enclosed documents, or an 
acceptance of liabifity for any debt that may be referenced in 
the documents served upon me. 

n ̀ na. 
Contact your ABC representative at: n 	C 

206-521-2980 
i;anera?eC: 12.115i2016 

:~~~_ ~€' +~ "~ ~ 
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